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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING


Thursday, April 3, 2008


--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  


Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2007-0050, pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, submitted by Hydro One Networks, Inc.  The application is for a leave to construct a transmission reinforcement project between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton switching station.


On November 30th, Hydro One filed an amended application to address certain changes to Hydro One's original application filed with the Board on March 29th, 2007.


On March 20th, 2008, Pollution Probe filed a notice of motion with the Board seeking orders that would lead to a more extensive -- to more extensive responses to various interrogatories.  Subsequently, other parties have filed similar motions, and the Board sits today to consider these motions.


May I have appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  To my left is Mr. Neil McKay, to my right Mr. Nabi Mikhail, and Mr. Robert Caputo is also here from Board Staff.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe, and with me is Mr. Basil Alexander.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Quinn Ross for the Ross firm group.  Mr. Fallis will be joining us shortly.  He is caught in traffic.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Gordon Nettleton for Hydro One Networks, Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Chaplin, Mr. Quesnelle.  George Vegh on behalf of Bruce Power.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.


MS. ROSENGARTEN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Joanna Rosengarten for Bruce Power.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Rosengarten.


MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Glenn Zacher on behalf of OPA, and with me to my left, Bob Chow of the OPA.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.


MR. PAPPAS:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Chris Pappas, intervenor.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, Mr. Pappas.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. PENNY:  Michael Penny, Madam Chair, for Ontario Power Authority Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.


MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray on behalf of the Independent Electricity Systems Operator, and with me is Mr. Carl Burrell.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rattray.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  With me today is Kimble Ainslie, and I would also like to put an appearance in for Mr. Peter Faye, who is out of town today.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MONEM:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Alex Monem representing the Saugeen Ojibway Nations.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, I can't hear you, sir.  Do you have a mike back there?


MR. MONEM:  I will try this.


MS. NOWINA:  That's better.


MR. MONEM:  Alex Monem representing Saugeen Ojibway Nations.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Monem.  Is that everyone?


All right.  Before we begin, I understand from correspondence that you, Mr. Klippenstein, have a request to adjourn the hearing, at least of your motion.  If you want to proceed on that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MOTION FOR ADJOURNMENT - POLLUTION PROBE

Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I regret to say that I did request, on behalf of Pollution Probe, an adjournment of the motion filed March 20th, and essentially the request is due to the fact that the motion pertains to interrogatories that are relevant to the issue of need and best alternative, and information that is important to the expert witnesses.


Unfortunately, despite the requirement, as I understand it, in the Rules, objections to answering the interrogatories based on relevance should be raised early on in the responses.  I was not informed that there would be an objection based on relevance until Tuesday.  


That's important, because if the issue is relevance on these technical matters, not only will I need to consult with the experts probably on an interrogatory-by-interrogatory basis, but I will probably need to introduce affidavit or letter evidence from them.  And, as I said, my understanding of the Rules is that that is not at all the way it is supposed to work.


I propose to just, if it is of assistance to the Board, very quickly walk through the rationale for what I have just said and request what I think is a short adjournment, until probably late next week, so that I can properly address what I think is a late and, frankly, improper objection.


MS. NOWINA:  Your mike is on, is it, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think the mike is on, but I will try to speak up.


Secondly, there is concern about some very late advice yesterday from three or four major parties that in fact they intended to respond to the motion, and I think out of fairness and under the Rules, I am entitled to a little more specific notice than that.


So that, in a very short, small nutshell, is why I am asking for an adjournment, quite reluctantly.


With your permission, I would like to just point to a few of the bases for that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


You will have before you, hopefully, a copy of the motion record dated March 20th, and we have also prepared a supplementary reference book dated April 3rd, 2008, which I think copies have been provided to the Board and everybody else.


MR. MILLAR:  I think the supplemental motion record is a new document, Madam Chair, so I will give that an exhibit number.  We will call that KM, for motions day, and I believe this is the second motions day, so it will be KM2.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K M2.1:  SUPPLEMENTARY REFERENCE BOOK, FILED BY POLLUTION PROBE.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, to start, as I said, the issue at this motion is interrogatories.


I have included them in the supplementary reference book at tab 3, and I won't go into them right now, but I will start by directing your attention to tab 1, which is Rule 29 of the Board's Practice and Procedure, and 29.02 says:

"A party who is unable or unwilling to provide a full and adequate response to an interrogatory shall file and serve a response (a) where the party contends that the interrogatory is not relevant setting out specific reasons in support of that contention."


Now, to my understanding, that seems to suggest that the response, which was scheduled by the Board and received, shall, in itself, set out the reasons for any claim of non-relevance.


Now, we received interrogatory responses from Hydro One, and they did not include any reference to an objection or a concern about non-relevance.


We took it that there would be no objection based on relevance, because we understood, both as a matter of the Rules, which are very clear, I submit, and of sort of common sense facilitation of the process, that if that would be the objection, we would be advised of it.


I should note that this rule is of long-standing existence before the Board.  I checked my memory and the draft Board Rules from 1988 had this provision in it, in pretty much the same exact wording, except that ten years later in the 1990s after consultation for amendment of the rules, it was changed by adding the word "specific".  So it was retained and strengthened, and it has been in force ever since.


When we received some of the interrogatories, we took note of the fact that there was no objection on relevance, and in the motion record at tab F, we sent a letter to the parties, dated March 6th, in which we said:

"We note that Hydro One appears not to dispute the relevance of the affected Pollution Probe interrogatories."


So being aware of the Rule and having received the answers, we noted that there was no objection on relevance.


We received a response from Mr. Nettleton dated March 10th, which is at tab G of the materials, and on the last paragraph of page 1, he says:

"Finally, and with respect to Pollution Probe's comment on relevance, Hydro One has viewed its lack of possession of the requested information to be the most appropriate factor related to the purpose and obligations set out in paragraph 3 of Procedural Order No. 5, to advise a requesting party of Hydro One's decision to not answer specific interrogatories and so that decisions could be expedited on whether formal motions should be made to provide such responses.  Hydro One has not interpreted paragraph 3 of Procedural Order No. 5 to require it to identify all of the substantive arguments that it may choose to rely on, and in response to a yet to be filed formal motion.  Those matters could only be determined after Hydro One has first reviewed any motion."


Now, I don't fully understand the first part of that paragraph, although it seems to be referring to the issue of relevance.  And the second part of what I read seems to say that they're not required to tell us if they're going to argue relevance, which, to me, does not fit with the Rules or, for that matter, with a facilitative approach to the interrogatories.


Again, this is important, because if the issue is going to be relevance on a technical matter like this, I suppose I can try as a legal counsel to make an argument for relevance.  But it probably is not at all wise to do that without detailed input from our experts.  So that is why notice of relevance is important, in my submission.


Now, as a result of the answers to the various interrogatories, Pollution Probe filed the motion on March 20th, 2008.  The procedure for motions is set out in Rule 8, and that is found at tab 4 of the supplementary materials you received today.  Rule 8.04 says:

"Unless the Board directs otherwise, a party who wishes to respond to the notice of motion shall file and serve, at least two calendar days prior to the motion's hearing date, a written response, an indication of any oral evidence the party seeks to present, and any evidence the party relies on, in appropriate affidavit form."


Now, roughly in accordance with that, on Tuesday we received a detailed response from Mr. Nettleton to the motion, and that is the first occasion on which we were advised that relevance would be an issue.


So on Tuesday, and today is Thursday.


I note that in Mr. Nettleton's motion, in fact he says:

"Relevance is the central issue on the motion."

So it has moved from something that the Rule requires to be identified in the interrogatory response, to something we noted was not apparently raised, to something which, now, two days before the motion, I am advised is the central issue.  And in my submission, an issue which, if I am going to try to be helpful to the Board on this interrogatory issue, I will need to have some input from the experts on relevance.


I was able to speak with my experts yesterday afternoon, but they are, all things considered, not in a position to provide detailed evidence on interrogatory-by-interrogatory basis on the issue of relevance for today's scheduled hearing.


I don't know whether an affidavit will be required from both of them.  One is in Boston.  One is in South Carolina.  I may suggest that I be given leave to submit just a letter so I can, if necessary, step around the requirements of finding a South Carolina lawyer to swear an affidavit on short notice, and so forth.


If my friend is going to maintain the position, in my submission, it does require a little bit of time, both out of a sense of fairness and out of a sense of the Board being able to make a decision on relevance on a proper basis.


I have included in the supplementary materials, at tab 13, a relatively recent decision on adjournment requests of Mr. Justice Perell of the Superior Court of Justice, and his honour summarizes some of the principles on an adjournment request, and I certainly won't go through it in detail.  It is there for you to review, but I will point out, if you would turn, please, to paragraph 27 in which his honour summarizes some of the issues.  At paragraph 27 he quotes one of the basic Rules of civil procedure, and that is relevant because that is almost word-for-word found in the Board's rules of civil procedure as one of the guiding principles.


He quotes the rule which says:

"These rules shall be liberally construed to secure the just, most expeditious and least expensive determination of every civil proceeding on its merits."


Just by comparison, the Ontario Energy Board's Rules at 2.01 say:

"These rules shall be liberally construed in the public interest to secure the most just, expeditious and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding before the Board."


And I just note that there are several competing claims in there, one being "the most just" and "on the merits", meaning substantively correct, or that concept.


Then, on the other hand, "expeditious and efficient", and so those could be seen sometimes as competing.  But those are the principles.


In paragraph 29, his honour says:

"Underlying these rules and interpretive principles are some fundamental principles associated with the administration of justice and civil procedure.  These principles include but are not limited to the imperative of deciding disputes on their substantive merits, of ensuring that justice not only be done, but be seen to be done, and of ensuring that the procedure is just and fair, which is to say that the civil proceedings accord with the principles of natural justice."


Then very briefly, if you turn to paragraph 38, his honour decides to grant the requested adjournment in that case.  And he says:

"In my opinion, a concern for the principles of natural justice and the appearance of justice being done explains why, perhaps to the chagrin of those opposing adjournments and indulgences, courts should tend to be generous rather than overly strict in granting indulgences, particularly where the request would promote a decision on the merits.  This liberality follows because it is in the public interest that whatever the outcome, a litigant should perceive that he or she had their day in court and a fair chance to make out their case."


Now, in my submission, something similar to those principles should be applied by this Panel and, in my submission, on the issue of making the decision on its merits, we have followed the rules in making responsible interrogatories.  We went out of our way to note that the relevance didn't appear to be an issue.


We now want the question of these interrogatories to be dealt with so that the information in them can be before you.  And that information, as I said, pertains to the forecasts of generation, which allegedly justified this transmission-line.


And I hate to say it again, but this is a $630 million ratepayer commitment, and, in my submission, in deciding that question, that leave-to-construct application on its merits, it is necessary, it is prudent for the Board to have some input from a party like Pollution Probe that may test those forecasts from knowledgeable experts, and they have said, We need this information in these interrogatories.  There is a variety of detailed ones.


And not only does Pollution Probe want to ask, Is this transmission-line even needed at all, given the projected capacity, but, further, we want to ask:  Is it economically sensible, not just engineering sensible, but is it economically sensible to spend $630 million, given what economic benefit there may be?


It may be that the best judgment is that the line is needed for certain months or for a year, for certain days, for certain amounts.  But, in my submission, there is a further question:   Does it make sense to spend $630 million of ratepayers' money for that month or that year?


That is not an engineering question.  That is an economic question, and, as the Board knows, you are, with respect, an economic regulator.  You are charged with cost-effectiveness of the operations that come before you.


And if I could use an ordinary analogy.  I mean, it's like a business, like a firm or anybody off the street, who needs to go to another town for a day and there is no train or bus service.  They need a car.  They don't say, I need a car.  I'm going to buy a $20,000 car.  They may say, I'm going to rent a car for a day and it may cost a rather exorbitant amount to the rental company, but it is still more sensible to rent a car than to buy it.


Similarly, it may be more sensible to say we don't need a $630 million-line.  It may be that we have to spend $10 or $30 million pertaining to locked-in energy, but it still makes sense.


Those are the kinds of questions, both the engineering capacity ones and the economic questions, which these experts want to address.  And these questions go at that.


So, in my submission, to make a proper decision on the merits, it behooves you to have a look at that.  That goes to the merits of this adjournment.  And in terms of the fairness, Pollution Probe's requests are, I think, reasonable, sensible.  They were according to the Rules.  And this adjournment decision talks about an indulgence for an adjournment, and it is in your discretion.


But, in my submission, there is a little bit more at play here.  There seems to be a real failure to follow the Rules here, not to mention principles of giving the reasons upfront as to why you're not answering the interrogatories.


So it may be indulgence, but it may be more than the Board enforcing its rules and saying, Play by the Rules and play by common sense.


There is a tight schedule in this matter, and it isn't helpful if approximately two weeks after filing our motion and several more weeks after filing our interrogatory we find out, on Tuesday, that relevance is the central issue.


So it is an indulgence, but, in my submission, it is a little bit more than that, as well.


Finally, I would just refer to the Board's Practice Direction on confidential filings, which is found at tab 12 of the supplementary reference book.


The second paragraph on the first page says:   

"The Board's general policy is that all records should be open for inspection by any person.  This reflects the Board's view that its proceedings should be open, transparent and accessible.  The Board therefore generally places materials it receives in the course of the exercise of its authority under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and other legislation on the public record so that all interested parties can have equal access to those materials.  That being said, the Board relies on full and complete disclosure of all relevant information in order to ensure that its decisions are well informed, and recognizes that some of that information may be of a confidential nature and should be protected as such."


I think the Board can be proud of its stated principle that it requires full and complete disclosure of all relevant information in order to ensure that its decisions are well informed.


And that is what is at issue here, in my submission.


Now, I have referred to the confidentiality practice, because obviously if relevant information is legitimately confidential, then that can be handled, and we've said that from day one in our correspondence.  We have noted some of this information, if it's potentially confidential, can be dealt with as such, and we said it right at the beginning, anticipating it, so that that process could be dealt with without holding up the hearing process.


So we've been trying to think ahead on these issues, and we recognize that if some of it is confidential and the Board's policy applies, then it should be handled that way.


Those are my submissions-in-chief on the issue of why the relevancy issue justifies an adjournment.  Let me add, also, I have included in the reference materials I think four or so e-mails from counsel for the OPA, Bruce Power, IESO, Power Workers' Union, all but one received yesterday, saying they intend to make submissions or they intend to speak, or words to that effect, not revealing the nature, the content, the position.


Now, these are -- these affect this motion.  I would refer, again, to the Rules of Procedure regarding motions, Rule 8.04, which I read to you before, which says:

"A party who wishes to respond to the notice of motion shall file and serve a written response."


Now, I don't even know if the parties I just mentioned intend to respond to the motion, but it appears that they do.  They are parties.  I take it they wish to respond to the motion.  They are major parties with major interests, well represented, and if they intend to oppose the answering of these interrogatories, then the letter, if not -- and perhaps, at a minimum, the spirit of this rule should apply.  I would ask that they be required to provide, in written form, some brief summary of what they intend to say so we have fair notice.


There are -- you know, this matter has a large array of major institutional parties involved, and out of both actual fairness and appearance of fairness, in my submission, if they're going to have a say, they shouldn't show up on one day's notice with a cryptic comment, and then ambush us.  And there shouldn't be an appearance of that.


So, in my respectful submission, the request for adjournment, reluctantly put before you, is reasonable and is necessary, and I ask for -- you know, I assume some of my friends will have their points, and I perhaps will be able to reply, but that it would be reasonable to postpone this until somewhere near the end of next week.


And it may be necessary to, also, because of this delay and the way it has come about, at least for Pollution Probe, extend the next Tuesday deadline for filing of evidence for a few days, until the following Monday, I suggest would be reasonable, as well.


I mean, I think the Board would be probably within its rights to say that given the late raising of this relevance issue, that that argument should be struck from the defence, and that the order should be made today that all of the interrogatories would be answered.  That's another solution which I think would be fair, but anyway I am not asking necessarily for that.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, I apologize.  One thing if I may add with respect to the potential solution I offer, is I note that although the schedule for this matter is admittedly tight, we have reviewed several times in this proceeding how the interaction between the environmental assessment process applies.


I note that, as of today, on checking the relevant websites, the terms of reference for the environmental assessment have not yet even been approved.  As I noted before in the evidence several times, Hydro One has used a period of one year as a reasonable estimate of a going-forward time period from the time of approval of the terms of reference to the possible approval of the environmental assessment.


So that may indicate that an adjournment until next week, and movement of the evidence deadline until the following Monday is entirely reasonable.  It wouldn't interfere with the overall project of this procedure.


I might add, in my submission, even if the Board may wish to move the hearing the hearing start date from May 1st to the following Monday, which is a few days, and if this adjournment were granted by the Panel, in my submission it would be appropriate to maybe not penalize Pollution Probe time-wise, but, given the way these interrogatories have been handled, to shorten some of the time that Hydro One has to file interrogatories to Pollution Probe's evidence.  And they may need to put their staff on notice that they're going to be working late for a few days, and not penalize Pollution Probe's experts by a few days' adjournment now, only to hit them later with extreme pressure on answers to interrogatories.


Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Does anyone wish to speak in support of Pollution Probe's request for adjournment?  Only the request for adjournment, not any of the other matters.  Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  Obviously I agree with the submissions made by counsel for Pollution Probe, and only have a few things to add.  And that is, with regards to the Rule itself for providing a reason for refusal, I think my friend articulated it quite well, but I would take it one step further and I would suggest that Rule 29.02 creates an order in anticipation of a motion, an order of things to happen in anticipation of a motion requesting further responses.


The first thing that needs to be done by the proponent is to provide the refusal to answer the interrogatory.


Then, to provide all of the grounds for that refusal, so that the person requesting the information is aware of all of the grounds for when they prepare their motion that we're here discussing today.  Otherwise, as my friend points out, it is the cart-before-the-horse scenario.  We are preparing a motion based on the grounds provided to us for the refusal, and then at the 11th hour we find out, though, there are actually other grounds.


I also note, just from a statutory interpretation perspective, that 29.02 has no "ors" between any of the sections until the last one, and what I would submit is that the fact that it doesn't have any "ors" in 29.02, (a), (b), would suggest -- or (c), until it deals with just other options that aren't contemplated by the Rules -- would suggest that each of the reasons for refusal must be articulated.  And it just does make practical sense that the reasons, all of them would be articulated, not just the primary reason, unless the proponent intends on only relying on the primary reason in their response to any motion that would be brought for the production of those interrogatories.


So I say that in bolstering my friend's position with regards to the interpretation of that Rule.


With regards to the adjournment itself, I agree that it will be necessary, in order for my friend to have the opportunity to have his experts provide a letter that sets out their need for the information and its relevance.  I would also submit that it is trite law that unless the prejudice of the proponent outweighs the prejudice of the person bringing the motion, the adjournment is always granted.


The presumption is in favour of the adjournment, and clearly here, other than a delay of what my friend is suggesting of about a week, there is no real prejudice.  Whereas my friend would be forced to proceed with a motion with incomplete evidence, and would not be able to respond or provide a position on, with any real sufficiency or specificity, on the primary grounds now for the refusal of the information.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Ross, can I ask you a clarifying question.  Is it also the position of your clients that they are similarly affected?  In other words, you're only now receiving notice of the grounds upon which Hydro One is opposing your motion?


MR. ROSS:  No.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So you would be prepared to continue today?


MR. ROSS:  No, and I am going to deal with that right now.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  As Madam Chair correctly pointed out, these are similar motions.  In fact, so similar that they're dealing with identical issues.  And they're dealing with identical issues in terms of refusal, relevance, and identical issues in terms of the information requested, and in our particular case, historical data.


Further, we, in fact, rely on the materials of Pollution Probe to a great extent.  One paragraph, 4 through 12 -- excuse me -- 8 through 12 of Pollution Probe's materials -- excuse me one moment.  


Grounds set out at paragraphs -- page 4 through 8 and paragraphs 5 through 19 are relied upon by the Ross firm group and the Fallis group in support of their motion.  Obviously we can continue on their materials filed and that is no problem, but what we would be experiencing is quite clearly a multiplicity of proceedings.  Which again, it is trite to say that there is a presumption against a multiplicity of proceedings.


The arguments that Pollution Probe's going to make and the arguments that we're going to make are very similar on identical issues.  And then we're going to be receiving responses from numerous counsel, to say the least, on the identical issues, twice.  They're going to be forced to jump through the same hoops twice.  We're going to be forced to jump through the same hoops twice with regard to reply.  We will have two full days spent, instead of what would be one.  And it simply doesn't make sense.


Further, I may want to be able to provide some support of my friend's motion, which would require me to return regardless, and I would hope that my friend would attend at my motion and provide support if he sees fit.  And that would have him sitting here all day listening to what he is going to be making arguments on in a week.  


We would then submit that to avoid this multiplicity of proceedings and avoid the patent duplication in the process, I can't see how there won't be repeated arguments made in response by my friends, the proponents and their supporters, or myself with Mr. Klippenstein.


So we simply want to avoid that.  Obviously it is unfortunate that we're all here.  We're all geared up and ready to go, but that is always the case when someone seeks an adjournment on a day at matter is scheduled to be heard.  This is not novel.  It is unfortunate.  It's maybe a larger reality check because of the number of people who have dragged case-loads of boxes in here, but the facts remain identical.  And that is simply that we are arguing the same case.  We are arguing on the same points of law, and in very many circumstances, the same facts and requests that we have made to Hydro One.


The duplication would be unnecessary, and really on that point, those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Anyone else in support of Mr. Klippenstein's position?

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, I speak on behalf of the Fallis group in support of the adjournment request for the multiplicity of reasons that my friend Mr. Ross has indicated.


The Pollution Probe's motion is one which is understandable under the circumstances.


The timing problem is -- from day one we have had tight, tight schedules, and to get a notice on Friday with your last procedural order giving one business day between that and filing notice of motions, makes everything tight for everybody.


Hydro One had opportunity to make some response and took relevance as an issue.  Our material was in on Tuesday to you.  It is now Thursday.  I don't know if Hydro One intends to further respond.  Nobody has responded to our motion.  So we may be, again, faced with a response of some sort that hasn't -- other than maybe verbal today -- if it were to go forward.


I think it must go with the person who has the most immediate need for the request for the adjournment.  Our expert has indicated why he can't respond to the interrogatories.  We want to deal with that.  But Mr. Klippenstein has been ambushed yesterday by a response that he hasn't even had an opportunity to get that information before the Board.


So I think you must grant his adjournment request.  It is most reasonable, and I think that -- so it can be dealt with in step, rather than out of step, with everybody coming at different days.  It only makes sense.


We're delayed, but yet he has to have his opportunity to respond, and it is needed and the Board must grant it, in our submission.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton.

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel Members.


The application for adjournment before you today is predicated upon a letter that was filed yesterday, wherein two reasons were provided or stated in that letter.


The one is the late tabling of certain issues, and the second is the need to consult with expert witnesses.


Those are the two issues that my friend, Mr. Klippenstein, and Pollution Probe has cited as being the basis for an adjournment.


It isn't fact that they have been sandbagged with respect to the concept or the accusation of relevance not being known.  That couldn't have been a reasonable argument for them to make, because of the March 10th correspondence which I filed, which was specifically on point and related to the issue of relevance.


What Mr. Klippenstein, in my respectful submission, has failed to inform you of or recall is that the procedure in this matter has followed a bit of a different process than what is stated to be the letter of the Rules of your practices and procedure.


The fact is, is that we had a Motions Day that resulted in Procedural Order 5 being issued where, if you will recall, Madam Chair, you indicated to Hydro One to please come forward and indicate as soon as possible - I believe originally it was 24 hours - in terms of whether or not Hydro One would be able to respond or would not be able to respond to interrogatories that were asked of parties.  That was found in paragraph 3 of Procedural Order 5.


The other part of Procedural Order 5, if you will recall, is that allowed or caused Hydro One to file interrogatories on a rolling basis, if you will.  That is to say, we had two weeks from the time in which original interrogatories were filed and two weeks to provide responses.


Hydro One received over 440 multi-part interrogatories.  We met every deadline, Madam Chair.  I think there was one minor exception, in terms of a filing of -- but it was in hours and certainly not days in respect of those interrogatories.


The purpose of -- as we understood paragraph 3, was to allow parties to put forward the motions that they would inevitably, we thought, put forward, such as the one that Pollution Probe has, once they knew precisely which interrogatories we would not be responding to.


That was what we understood was the intent of paragraph 3 of Procedural Order 5, was so that the process could continue to be expedited and could continue on a track that would allow parties and give parties information that they would require in the event that they required to make motions to compel further production of responses.


Now, procedural order -- paragraph 3 of Procedural Order 5 is not specifically contemplated in your Rules, but that doesn't mean that the Board doesn't have the latitude or that rules cannot be attributed and applied liberally to meet the present and circumstances of every case.


That, indeed, is what has happened here, and Hydro One submits it was a reasonable thing to do.  The fact that we had three days to file a response to each set of interrogatories, to indicate whether or not we would be responding, provided sufficient notice to parties to be placed on notice that they may be required to file motions to compel further production.


Now, with respect to my friend's comments about, So why didn't you state in your actual interrogatory response that the responses that you were not -- or the interrogatories that you were not going to respond to was based on a question of relevance.


The fact of the matter, Madam Chair, is that we were inundated with interrogatories.  We were in the process of preparing what amounted to, again, over 440 interrogatories, and we had placed on the record in the proceeding letters indicating that we would not be responding to the interrogatories, and we thought, again, from a notice perspective, parties would be placed on notice that those interrogatories that had been identified would not be responded to.


Now, the circumstances may be different, Madam Chair, in my respectful submission, if we were dealing with intervenors who were unsophisticated or not familiar with your process.


If it was the case, as was in the case that my friend has cited at tab 13 of his materials, of dealing with facts and circumstances of, as I read the head note, a party who is unrepresented or self-represented - and the issue was, in that case, as I have read it only today, about that party having missed a time deadline in a civil procedure order in a process where the rules of evidence apply - I would think the circumstances could be a little different.


But here, Madam Chairman, Panel Members, that is not the case.  Here we have a circumstance where a party, Pollution Probe, has, from the outset, made motions, filed motion records and, indeed, has made their views known as to what they have thought to be the theory of their case.


By that, I mean -- and I refer the Board Members to the motion record that Pollution Probe filed on June 12th, 2007.  And that was, if you will recall, in respect to Procedural Order 1, the first Motions Day, and at paragraph 3 on page 3 of that Motion, what Pollution Probe indicated was that they believed, quote:

"It appears also that the proposed reinforcement of the existing line would increase transmission capacity to the point that even if all of this generation was operating at 100 percent of capacity all the time, the maximum transmission capacity would only be approximately 1,000 megawatts below maximum generation capacity for a temporary period of four years."


And they have also stated -- I'm sorry, I misquoted it.  They stated in this part of the motion that, for example:

"The current rationale appears to include the assumption that all relevant nuclear and wind generation would be operating at 100 percent of capacity all the time, which has not historically occurred."


So in June 2007, Pollution Probe had come forward to say, We've got an issue about historic information.


What did that motion also contemplate, Madam Chairman?  It also contemplated a request for a technical conference, a request that Hydro One supported, a technical conference that was held, a technical conference wherein Pollution Probe's expert attended and asked questions.  But did one question from that expert relate to historic information?  No.


The change in circumstance, the late tabling of certain issues, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, is not the filing that Hydro One Networks has made, but rather it's the form of the motion that both Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross have filed that is the late-breaking news, because as Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross have indicated, indeed, in that motion, there is an affidavit that is at least supported by some form of letter from an expert.  And we'll get there if we discuss the merits of the motion.


But it would strike me, Madam Chair, that that is the late-breaking news.  It is not Hydro One's response.


Why did Hydro One file its response?  In Procedural Order 7, we took it to mean that indeed there wasn't a requirement at all to file written submissions in response to the motion.


What we had, from the plain reading of Procedural Order 7, what we had understood was that the requirement was for parties to provide the documents that they were intending to rely upon to the other parties, as is normal practice.  But what Hydro One decided to do, so that it would not very much be accused of sandbagging anyone, was to file its submission in advance, so that all parties would have knowledge of the arguments that it would be relying upon.


It did so in contemplation of Rule 8.04.  Rule 8.04 does not state, does not start with "Parties shall...";  What it states is:

"Unless otherwise directed by the Board, parties shall..."


Mr. Klippenstein has inadvertently forgotten that important phrase.


So Hydro One has come forward to this proceeding with clean hands, with full knowledge to all parties as to where it stands in respect of the motion.  It has done so through its filing of its submission, of its response.  We believe that that is consistent with what the practice is pursuant to Rule 8.04.  It is over and above what was thought to be the requirement of Procedural Order 7.


Mr. Klippenstein's suggestion that there is some late-breaking sandbagging going on related to the issue of historical generation, and that this would be challenged on the basis of some relevance argument is just simply not the case.


The argument was known as far back as June 12th, 2007.  Experts for Pollution Probe had been retained.  They have participated in this process all along.  They had the opportunity to have informally an opportunity to discuss these issues.  They chose not to do so.


When they made reference to the fact that we had not indicated in the responses to interrogatories that the R word was not used by Hydro One, we came forward and made submissions directly on that point.  I am at a loss as to why there would be any real basis for an adjournment, strictly on the basis that has been claimed by Mr. Klippenstein.


Madam Chair, the motions that are before you are well known.  Parties have had the opportunity to understand the basis of the motions.  The record of the motions are clear.


What is before you is consistent with what is set out in Procedural Order 7.  There are no inconsistencies.  In fact, the only inconsistency is that certain of the materials that my friends Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross filed were, indeed, late.  But we're not taking exception to that.


Our materials, I think, were late by 20 minutes or something, because we had a scanning problem.  But no one is taking issue with that, and we don't take issue with Mr. Fallis' and Mr. Ross' materials coming in late to us.  That's fine.  We're prepared to deal with it.


We didn't get copies of Mr. Klippenstein's authorities until this morning.  We're not taking exception with that.  There is flexibility here.


But as to the real issue of whether there would be some procedural injustice or unfairness caused by hearing this matter now, my friend has just simply not made his case out to that effect.  The balance here is that this application that is before you has been before you for over a year.  It's time to get on with it.  It's time to move forward.


In my respectful submission, Madam Chair, the choice that my friend, Mr. Klippenstein, has is: either they withdraw the application altogether -- the motion altogether, and they proceed with the hearing of Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross's motion as a supporter of it, of their motion.  That option is available.  Withdrawal is a possibility, if they think that their application is so frail, and due to the fact that they forgot to include affidavits of experts that they have retained and who have participated in this process all along and to, you know, make statements regarding the theory that they set out in June 12th, 2007.


I am just at a loss as to why the balances of fairness and natural justice would favour that, that step, as it relates to a sophisticated party like Mr. Klippenstein and Pollution Probe in this proceeding.


So withdrawal is one option.  Another option would simply be to proceed forward with the application as filed and hear it on its merits.


In my respectful submission, that -- until I heard from Mr. Ross today -- was the intent of today's proceedings.  Mr. Ross hasn't filed a request to have his motion adjourned.  I think that's what we just heard.  I'm not sure.  But Mr. Ross filed his materials.  He filed it after -- it may have been concurrent, but he filed it after.  I would assume that he had seen it.  But there hasn't been any correspondence from Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis.  And as Mr. Ross has indicated, the issues overlap.  So even if there is a withdrawal, the issues of whether historic generation records are relevant to this proceeding should, and ought to be heard.  That's the substance of the applications that have been made today.  That is the substance of today's proceeding.


In conclusion, Madam Chair, again, I see no basis.  We submit there is no basis for you to grant the requested adjournment.  The parties are sophisticated.  They have all along known what the issues were in this proceeding relating to the motion.  The fact is that we filed our record of materials and our arguments in advance, for the benefits of parties to know, so that we wouldn't be accused of sandbagging.


We think that the application should be heard as filed.  Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Are there any parties who wish to support Hydro One's position?  And I would ask you not to be repetitive.  Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  I won't repeat Mr. Nettleton's submissions.  I will be making submissions with respect to the relief requested against my client, Bruce Power, which is different.  It's not about answering interrogatories.  It's about a summons and the request that Bruce Power produce information.


But there is an overlap in the sense that the case that Mr. Klippenstein should have been prepared to make against Bruce Power in seeking the Board to exercise these extraordinary powers is basically the same type of case they should have had to make against Hydro One.


So the requirement of relevance applies to both.  So what I would like to do is address Mr. Klippenstein's points about playing by the rules.  I would then like to address the issue of relevance and how it relates to the relief requested against Bruce Power, in particular, and then finally to make some observations and add some points about this ambush point that seems to be being raised today.


First, on the question of playing by the rules.


Bruce Power has not filed evidence in this case.  They have not responded to interrogatories.  They have not been required to respond to interrogatories.  Procedural Order No. 5, which addresses interrogatories, is addressed at Hydro One with respect to its evidence.  It's not addressed at Bruce Power.  And Bruce Power, of course, has not, as I said, filed evidence upon which interrogatories have been addressed.


The Rules that my client has been required to comply with are in Procedural Order No. 7.  This is a first set of rules that have come forward and this was issued last Friday.


Procedural Order No. 7 -- I won't read it to you -- it requires all parties who want to participate in this motion to have advised the Board and the other parties by April 2nd -- so on Friday, we were told to advise by Tuesday at noon -- whether Bruce Power intended to participate, and required to file motion materials if we planned to rely on them.


Bruce did respond in time and it said it would oppose the motion.  Bruce also said that it will not be filing motion materials, that it will rely on the materials that have already been provided.


So Bruce Power played by all of the rules.  So there is no argument about there is some kind of irregularity in terms of Bruce Power's position today.


There was nothing in the procedural order that required an outline of the reasons why or a summary of submissions of any sort from Bruce Power, just a motion record if we were going to rely on one.


If you consider the timing, I don't know if we would have been in a position to file written submissions by Tuesday afternoon in response to an order that we got on Friday.


Of course, Bruce Power received motions requesting the Board to issue summonses against it after we filed our response to Pollution Probe's motion.  So, you know, needless to say, we weren't in a position to respond to those motions.


So the Board set up an expedited process here.  Most parties have been more active in this case than we have, frankly, and the Board set out some rules and fairly fast-tracked it, and we complied with that.


So we are -- Bruce Power is responding to requests for remedies ordered against it for summons, to answer questions, to produce materials, and it is outside of the interrogatory process.  Now I would like to -- as I said, the rules for Bruce Power's participation are set out in Procedural Order No. 7.  Bruce has complied with Procedural Order No. 7.


I would like to address the point on relevance, how it relates to the requests of Bruce Power, that the Board issue a summons against Bruce Power and that the Board direct Bruce Power to provide evidence.


Pollution Probe filed legal materials on this point addressing really the jurisdiction of this Board to make these orders, and Bruce Power doesn't question the jurisdiction of the Board to make these orders.  The Board has the power to do this. 


The Board has done it on occasion, but it has always been a rather extraordinary remedy that the Board has, the type of thing the Board exercises in affiliate relationships issues, or in -- where the information is material and relevant to the Board's mandate; that is, the Board needs this information to decide an issue in the public interest.


I was going to refer to this test in the substantive motion, but the question of relevance is the central question that Pollution Probe should have known that it had to meet in seeking a summons against Bruce Power and in seeking an order from this Board to exercise its extraordinary power to reach out and require Bruce to prepare evidence.


So they should have known that that is the test they have to meet.  I won't take you to them.  The materials are in Mr. Nettleton's book of materials, standard textbook references from MacAuley, standard examples from this Board where the Board says, If we are going to exercise this power and order someone to produce evidence, you have to demonstrate that the evidence is material and is relevant.  And that is the test.  


The key point I would like to make about this is that sometimes litigators, being the way they are, they can't help but focus on sort of the private elements of the dispute.  You know, He should have said this then.  I didn't know what he was going to do.  This is all very unfair.  


That's fine.  Those arguments come up all the time, but the real question is, when someone comes to the Board asking the Board to exercise an extraordinary power, they have to be prepared to say that the public interest is advanced by doing this.  You can't just show up and say, Well, we would like you to exercise this power, and then be stunned when you ask them, Well, am I going to get relevant information by doing this?


Relevance is key to the public interest authority of the Board to exercise that extraordinary power that is being requested from my client against all of the applicants.  They should have known that that is the test they have to make.  


Now, I do want to address finally this question of the ambush, and, on the first point, I hope I am not repeating what I just said, but perhaps I am saying it a different way.


The response from Hydro One, that the information requested from both Hydro One and from my client is irrelevant, should not have -- it's not like Hydro One pulled out some obscure issue of law that no one could have conceivably considered before filing their application or seeking to come to the Board.  It's not like, you know, they pulled out some trick.


The question of relevance is a basic fact of every piece of evidence that should come before the Board.  In fact, Mr. Klippenstein read to you from your own Rules about open and transparent process and ensuring that all relevant information come forward.


So it should not have been a surprise.


The second thing is, when you look at the motion records, you will see the parties did argue relevance.  Let me just -- they didn't do it very well, perhaps, but they did argue the point of relevance.  So it is not like relevance, again, came out of the blue.  I won't read you every reference.


Mr. Gibbons' affidavit at paragraph 5 refers to relevance.  Pollution Probe at paragraph 13 of its motion record says:

"Pollution Probe submits that the requested information is relevant to examining the need for the proposed project."  


Then it says:

"For example, if future projections regarding energy generation do not correspond to past experience, serious questions are raised."


Now, I will submit to you, when we get to the merits, that that is actually a non sequitur, that that is not a very good argument, but they are addressing relevance.  As I said, they just don't do a very good job of it.  And Fallis and Ross materials also argue relevance.  


So everyone knows that you have to address relevance.  If you're going to ask the Board to order people to produce information, they have to demonstrate it is relevant information.


The next point on this ambush issue of relevance is that, you know, put this in some context.  This case has gone on for over a year now.  There have been hundreds of interrogatories filed.  I think Pollution Probe filed hundreds of interrogatories, when you add up all of the sub-questions.


As a matter of practice, what -- this Board should be encouraging parties to turn their mind to relevance before they start spraying interrogatories all over the place.  Before they bring a motion asking the Board to require a third party to provide evidence or seeking a summons, there should be some discipline here.  


It's kind of late to go talk to the expert after you filed the motions, after you ask all of your interrogatories and say, Oh, by the way, is any of this relevant to the issues in this case?  


There should be some discipline on parties to examine relevance before they drag people even through the interrogatory process, much less bring a motion before the Board.


So they should have been prepared to address the relevance issue for the motion against my client.  And, if so, they, therefore, should have been prepared to address relevance issues with response to the same point against Hydro One.


I won't argue Hydro One's point.  I know there is an interrogatory element to it, but I just make the point that relevance is always an issue here.


Then, finally, I do want to just make an observation on the exchange that Ms. Chaplin had with Mr. Ross.  I agree that you should not bifurcate this motion.  You don't hear their motion today, and then let Pollution Probe come back next week.  That's inappropriate.


I think today is the day that is set aside for the motions.  Pollution Probe can proceed, or not, but they don't get to do a do-over.


Thank you.  Those are my submissions, subject to any questions that you have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Others in support of Hydro One?  And, again, I would appreciate it if you were not repetitive.


MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, I will be brief.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Zacher.

Submissions by Mr. Zacher:


MR. ZACHER:  Just to echo a little bit of what Mr. Vegh said, the starting point for any motion for production of documents - and that's really what this application is about, whether it's before this Panel or before any court - is relevance.


You have to make the prima facie case that the documents or the information you are seeking to have produced is relevant.  And, in this case, what Pollution Probe is largely seeking is information directly from Ontario Power Generation or Bruce Power, or indirectly to have information compelled from the IESO or the OPA.


So it is really sort of neither here nor there what Pollution Probe thought the position was of Hydro One, because at the end of the day this Panel, like any tribunal, has to be satisfied, before they make an order compelling the production of information or documents from another party, that that information is relevant and will assist the Panel materially in deciding the issues that have to be decided in this proceeding.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Anyone else?


Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Madam Chair, yes, I wish to make submission in support of the intervenors.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Pappas, that was actually earlier if it was in support of Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. PAPPAS:  I know, but you jumped across to Mr. Nettleton.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, I didn't see you.


MR. PAPPAS:  Is it okay if I go ahead?


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  Go ahead.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Pappas:


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, first of all, unaccustomed as I am to being legally sophisticated, I won't even bring up the matters of the various legalities of legal procedures, I will go straight to natural justice.


There has been talk of relevance -- well, I will preface this with a very simple thing.


There has been a lot said about how Hydro One brought up all this evidence and had it ready for the technical conference, all of this prefiled evidence.


Well, there was certain very important documents and that should have been included in the prefiled evidence from day one, and weren't.  And therefore, we had no ability to ask questions about those.  And the interesting thing is that some of those documents, upon inspection, have showed that there were certain parameters to these studied, so that they would avoid looking at certain answers which would have solved the problem regarding reactive power and regarding the need of a line, or not.  Just by directing the parameters, you can direct a study.  They're in there.  There is a number of things like that in there.


So my point here is they're talking about relevance and supplying information.  It should be not up to them to decide what is relevant.  It's up to the Board.  And we have a right to propose what may be relevant.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, those are appropriate arguments for you to make if we decide to go ahead and hear the motion.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  What I am saying though is I am supporting -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Right now we are only deciding whether or not there should be an adjournment of the motion.


MR. PAPPAS:  What I am getting to, just simply because of the way it is, I don't believe there has been enough information available for them to go ahead with the motion, regardless of what Hydro and Bruce Power said, because furthermore, I believe that if we look at this -- and I have certain arguments here -- that the OPG and Bruce Power, no matter what they say, at the end of the day are in fact drivers because of the OPA, to start with, who has made certain statements in their own documentation about the connection of this project with other generation and transmission.  Whereas HONI keeps saying:  Oh no, we can't look at that.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, again, I'm sorry.  Those are interesting submissions.  We will hear them later, if we hear the motion.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay, okay.


MS. NOWINA:  They are not relevant, I believe, to the adjournment of the motion.


MR. PAPPAS:  Only that I am trying to say that I think they need more before they can even go ahead with the motion, that they haven't been given enough information.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


Mr. Millar, did you wish to make submissions?  


MR. MILLAR:  Only very briefly, Madam Chair.  I think that the issues have been well canvassed by the parties.  I don't have a lot to add, and I am not going to pick sides as to whether or not you should grant the request for adjournment -- 


MR. RATTRAY:  Madam Chair, if I may. 


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rattray.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rattray.  Did you have anything to submit here?

Submissions by Mr. Rattray:


MR. RATTRAY:  Yes.  I just wanted to state for the record that the IESO supports the position set out by Mr. Nettleton and our colleagues at Bruce Power and the OPA, with respect to the request for an adjournment.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


Did anyone else want to make a similar position?  Mr. Penny.

Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  I might just say -- Madam Chair, thank you -- that OPG is even more removed from this issue than Bruce Power.  We have no direct interests.  We filed no evidence.  We're not the subject of any procedural orders in this case.  All else equal, we would prefer to have the matter dealt with today, but we are not taking a position specifically on the request for an adjournment.


I simply wanted to make the point that we don't want to have to go through this twice.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Very briefly, two points:  We support the position of Hydro One and the others speaking against the adjournment.  We think this matter should proceed today.


Secondly, just in terms of timing on this, speaking only for myself, the e-mail we sent yesterday was driven by my reading of Procedural Order No. 7.  I didn't read Procedural Order No. 7 to require anybody that was not themselves bringing a motion to do anything at all, frankly, other than show up.


I understood Procedural Order No. 7 to say if you were bringing a motion, you had to do so by a particular time.  And if you were filing materials, you had to do so by a particular time.


I am not bringing a motion and I am not filing materials.  Frankly, I ordinarily wouldn't have even sent my e-mail, but I did so out of an abundance of caution.  If I was wrong in my interpretation, I ask the Board's indulgence, but beyond that, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  All right.  Mr. Millar, now we will do you.  

Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


Yes, as I was saying, I don't intend to pick sides on this dispute.  I think the issue -- and you heard this essentially from the other parties, but if I could sum it up a little bit -- the real issue is prejudice here.  Is there any prejudice to Mr. Klippenstein if he is forced to proceed today without receiving an adjournment?


I think for you to make that finding, I guess you have to be convinced that Hydro One has raised something through its materials filed -- I think it was April 1st, I think that is what the discussion surrounded -- if there was something in that material that could not reasonably have been anticipated by Pollution Probe; and if that is true, if it would require a response from Pollution Probe that couldn't reasonably be prepared since April 1st, which I guess is two days ago.


So that's the issue as I see it, if I can frame it that way.  Again, I am not picking sides between one party or another, but that is my submission, if it helps the Panel, subject to any questions you may have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Klippenstein, reply?

Further submissions by Mr. Klippenstein: 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.  If I could go through a number of points that my friends have raised.  Mr. Millar just raised the issue of prejudice, but, in my submission, he didn't raise it fully or even properly.


The question should also be asked:  Is there any prejudice if the adjournment is granted?  Interestingly, none of the various parties who argued against the adjournment even mentioned prejudice, never mind described it.  I have suggested, as part of this request, a schedule which is a very short adjournment with some adjustments and, in my submission, there is no real prejudice to any of the parties from an adjournment.


With respect to prejudice for Pollution Probe, as I have said, the idea of relevance as a hot issue was raised on Tuesday.  If that is a hot issue, or as Mr. Nettleton said in his submissions, the central issue, and it's about relevance of a series of detailed technical interrogatories, I would need to have some degree of input from my experts to be able to explain those to the Board.  So Pollution Probe is severely prejudiced if it's required to go ahead today on such short notice.


Now, several parties, related to that, including Mr. Millar, have raised the issue that relevance is always in play, and therefore, it should have been obvious to Pollution Probe that relevance would be a major issue.


People have said that Pollution Probe has known all along the issues relating to this motion, that we forgot to include an affidavit from our experts, that Pollution Probe should have known relevance was the central question to exercise this power, should have turned our mind to relevance before they asked the interrogatories, and so on and so on.


Now, as I understand it, that fundamentally turns on its head the basic Board procedure related to interrogatories.  The basic Board procedure -- and this has always been the practice -- is that interrogatories are to be answered.  When a party is given party standing and accepted here as a party, there is I guess a certain practical presumption that they have an interest and that they are going to attempt to raise information and issues.


The Rule does not say that every interrogatory shall include either, you know, information about its relevance or that the Board somehow must be convinced of its relevance.  That's 180 degrees wrong.  It's the other way around.


The Rule that I read you, Rule 29.02, says:

"A party who is unable or unwilling to provide a full and adequate response to an interrogatory shall file and serve a response where the party contends that the interrogatory is not relevant and setting out specific reasons in support of that contention."


So the principle and the practice has always been that interrogatories should be answered.  If you don't think it is relevant, the onus is on you, the recipient of the interrogatory.  That is the way it has always been.


Think of the implications of effectively turning that around now.  Then -- and it's possible.  The Board could decide it should be the other way around, but this is a large -- the Board deals with large cases with large processes where information tends to be in a large institutional party, and the working practical assumption has been - and it has always worked - that interrogatories should be answered and that if you try and change that around, you're going to have endless procedural battles, and it has always worked that way.


The Rules appropriately say that if you don't want to answer an interrogatory, or if you only want to answer it even partly, the onus is on you, the party that doesn't want to answer it, to set out specific reasons in support of that contention.


As I said, that has been rule since at least 1988.  I have never heard it said that the onus is on the other way.  And that's why -- and other parties, Mr. Nettleton and others, have said this is a case of a sophisticated party, such as Pollution Probe, and I appreciate the recognition.  A sophisticated party like Pollution Probe should know that relevance is an issue.


Well, it could be that my understanding of the Rules is wrong, but that's why we wrote and said, We note that relevance has not been raised.  That is in the issue.  That's in the letter of March the 6th.


So it could be that our understanding of the rule was incorrect, but in an orderly fashion we said, Okay, we understand that the rule, which normally requires you to identify relevance, is not an issue for you here.  So we've reminded you that it appears that you are not saying relevance is an issue.


Now, a number of parties have said, Well, that's not applicable because of Procedural Order No. 7.  Procedural Order No. 7 does not try and set out a whole method of conducting motions.  It doesn't purport to do that.  It doesn't purport to change the Rules.  It doesn't purport to change everything.  It simply sets some deadlines.  Now, that makes sense.


Now, the Rules of the Board say, in Rule 4.04:

"Where a provision of these rules is inconsistent with a provision of a procedural order, the procedural order shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency."


Now, in my submission, that is both common sense and it is the rule.  In other words, just because a procedural order says something, you don't throw out all of the rules.  You look if there is an inconsistency.  Then the procedural order overturns it, and only to the extent of the inconsistency.


In my submission, that makes sense.  How else can you run things?  And that's the context of this Procedural Order No. 7.


So I don't think you can view Procedural Order No. 7 as saying, Okay, you now have a holiday from all of the other rules.


The same would apply to Procedural Order No. 5, in my submission.  We don't start with a new, blank slate every time we set a deadline for a motion.


So it must be remembered that this pertains to interrogatories.  This is not a motion about relevance at a hearing.  This is about interrogatories, and the well-known interrogatory process is set out, which says you answer them unless you object.


And so, for example, when my friend, Mr. Vegh, says all of these things about -- you know, I think he has accused me of forgetting basic evidence, and things like that, for which I forgive him, but anyway.


He says, you know, It should have been obvious that relevance is a central issue.  Now, again, that's confusing the interrogatory process, which has certain rules and presumptions, with other processes.  And I think -- I submit to you I am entitled and it is reasonable for me to say, You folks never raised relevance for Pollution Probe's interrogatory.  Therefore -- what you did raise is confidentiality, but you didn't raise relevance.  Therefore, for interrogatory purposes, we proceed in a certain way in accordance with the Rules.


Now, Mr. Vegh then takes it to the next step and says, But the summons changes things.  Maybe it does and maybe it doesn't.  I am prepared to argue about that when this motion gets heard.  But you can't say this is about a summons, and, therefore, everything about interrogatories is out the window, because this is about interrogatories, and, as a follow-up or adjunct to that, a summons follows once, in my submission, the Board has decided that an interrogatory answer is required.


So that doesn't change the basic idea:  Answer the interrogatory, and, if you're not going to, say why.


Now, I note that, in fact, in one of the letters from Hydro One at tab L of the motion record -- it is a long letter dealing with a long list of interrogatories from various parties.  In some of those answers or responses, Hydro One takes the position that it's not relevant, and it says so.


For example --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, is this in response to something that the others made submissions on?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  It is specifically in response to the objection raised --


MS. NOWINA:  I don't want to rehear your whole argument with different examples, though.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  This is in response to the issue of we should have known about relevance because it's always an issue.  In this letter, Hydro One, for several categories, says:

"Hydro One therefore does not consider such questions to be proper and relevant to this proceeding."


So it objected on the basis of relevance.


For Pollution Probe's interrogatories, it did not say that.  So it objected on the basis of relevance in sum, which I think is proper, according to the Rules.  In Pollution Probe, it didn't.


So the inference is not that somehow we should have known about relevance even though, you know, they objected on page 3 on relevance, but didn't object on page 5 on relevance.  Instead, it is compatible and consistent with the Rules to say, They didn't object, so therefore that's not a ground.


So, in summary, I submit that Pollution Probe reasonably restricted the focus and scope of its motion based on Board rules and practice, and it should not be severely prejudiced for doing that, and so should be granted a reasonable adjournment today.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I believe Ms. Chaplin has a question.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Klippenstein, in order to ensure I understand completely your position on this matter of relevance, as I observe and I believe Mr. Vegh observed, you do address the issue of relevance, albeit briefly, in your motion at paragraph 13.


Is it your position that Hydro One is in some sense precluded from responding to that, because they did not do so at the time that they declined to answer the interrogatory?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  They are precluded, in my submission, from making it the central issue.


Now, just because Pollution Probe put in something on relevance, should not be turned around and said, now, that indicates that it is the central issue and you have put all of your eggs in that basket.


I mean, saying this is relevant, I would assume would be something the Board would want to hear regardless, but that is different from it being the central contested issue in a way that the Rules don't provide for.


In the notice of motion, on page 4 under the grounds for the motion, it specifically says -- this is page 4 of the new notice of motion found at tab 1.  In paragraph 4 on page 4, the notice of motion says:

"Pollution Probe notes that for both sets of interrogatories, Hydro One does not appear to object to the relevance of these interrogatories."


So we made it clear that our understanding for this motion was that there was no objection on the basis of relevance.  It's very clear.


Now, so the fact that there may be a brief statement in the affidavit from one of Pollution Probe's consultants saying this is relevant, could be there out of an abundance of caution because the Board, I would assume, would want to know that at least there is some relevance.  This isn't frivolous.  You didn't make this up and throw it in, you know.  My friend said somehow this is out of control, because we have all of these interrogatories from all of these experts.


I mean, to say that we cooked these up or that the experts just went off and wrote a bunch of stuff, I mean that's a little bit out there.  I'm not going to talk about that.


But to say in our affidavit these are relevant, that is simply a bit of information for the Board that is background.  But it is very clear that Pollution Probe does not expect that to be a central issue or even a major issue.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Then, I guess further it would help me if you clarified further your response to Mr. Vegh.  I believe it was Mr. Vegh's argument that, yes, one of the reliefs you are seeking is for us to order Hydro One to answer the questions or to require the information.  But one of the alternatives is for us to order other parties directly to provide the information.


I don't think I quite understand your response in that instance, of why -- regardless of whether or not other parties raise the issue of relevance, why you would not have expected this Panel to be interested in why that material is of sufficient relevance to require the Board to take that extra step of ordering a non-applicant to provide the evidence.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, the context for that, in my submission, is, it's two different questions.  One is, should Hydro One answer the interrogatories?  And the other one is, should there be a summons issued?  Those are different issues and different considerations apply.


So it is possible that Pollution Probe would succeed on the interrogatories and not succeed on the summons.  So it is a mistake to confuse the two and say:  Just because part of the relief is a summons, that changes all of the questions about interrogatories.


So you would, in my submission, deal with it in two parts.  One is the interrogatory and then on the issue of summons.  And relevance would be part of the issue for a summons, but why would the test for relevance on a summons be any different than the test for relevance on the interrogatory?  You can't presume that.  I mean, we haven't argued it, and it is quite possible that Pollution Probe takes the position that once you have decided it's a proper interrogatory, that is enough to issue a summons against someone else who is not a third party way out there.  That is a party to this proceeding who is obviously, intensely involved.  So you can't say I should have introduced a whole bunch of relevance information, because it is quite possible that I will argue, once you decide it is a legitimate interrogatory, that's enough to issue a summons, when that person is a party and intimately involved.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, do you have anything in reply, specifically to your issues? 

Further submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  I just note actually that there were no submissions directly on point with regards to the adjournment of all of the -- in this particular case -- applicants' motions.  In fact, there were suggestions from some of the people who are in support of the Hydro One position, that to bifurcate does not make sense.


Briefly, it is of note with regard to the issue of adjournment generally, that Rule 8 and Procedural Order No. 7 both suggest, state and direct that materials need to be filed in response to any motions if submissions are going to be made.


It's, again, of note that there is no direction from the Board alleviating this.  In fact, Procedural Order No. 7 would support the position that materials are to be filed.  And there are no materials filed in response to the Ross firm group motion or the Fallis firm group motion.


So are we then to understand that Hydro One will be precluded from making submissions in response to our motion?  In a plain reading of the Procedural Order No. 7 as well as Rule 8 together with it, that would appear so.  And I would imagine my friend, then, would want an adjournment to prepare materials or seek direction from the Board precluding the necessity of filing those materials.  They have been provided no notice that they will be seeking that direction from the Board, nor have we been provided a response.


I can submit that this is not to any fault of Hydro One.  Procedural Order No. 7 did not contemplate a reply time.  We were allowed to file late, and my friend has so graciously accepted late service of those documents, as he pointed out.


So we are stuck with a bit of a dilemma that this adjournment may resolve not only for Pollution Probe but for all of the parties.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, may I -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, you want to make a reply to that?

Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  I know this is extraordinary to have Hydro One -- but there are a few things that I think -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, actually I don't want you to reply to Mr. Klippenstein's.  The only point that I might want you to reply to is Mr. Ross' immediate point, about being able to make submissions on his motion.


MR. NETTLETON:  If I am out of order, please tell me.  But with respect to the central issue comment, it's not in my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry? 


MR. NETTLETON:  If Mr. Klippenstein could please show me where, because the only reference of central issue that I find is at paragraph 4 that says:

"The central issue raised by Pollution Probe is whether the request for information is relevant."


So I am sorry if I am out of order, but unless that could be demonstrated, I think there are some inaccuracies on the record of this proceeding.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Can we --


MR. NETTLETON:  The second matter as it relates to Mr. Ross, our understanding, Madam Chair, was that this day, today, this proceeding, would be the time in which parties would be able to make oral submissions.  That day I know is waning down.


We fully anticipate to come and discuss and debate and make submissions on the motions that are before you today.  We are not intending to file any additional materials in respect of the Ross motion.  The materials that have been filed in respect of the Pollution Probe motion obviously overlap with the positions taken by the Fallis and Ross groups, and we would have hoped that the obvious reality would be that the materials could apply to both motions.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  We are going to take ten minutes to give you a decision on the adjournment question.


--- Recess taken at 11:15 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 11:36 a.m.

DECISION:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


This is our decision on a request for adjournment.


The Board notes that it would have been helpful if Hydro One had indicated in its interrogatory responses that relevance was one of their grounds for not responding.  In the normal course of things, we would expect them to do that.


However, Pollution Probe in its own motion request raised the question of relevance.  We believe that they did that appropriately, because the Board, in considering the ordering of evidence from any party, must always consider relevance as part of the test of the public interest.


Pollution Probe should have, and apparently did, anticipate this.  Hydro One and other parties certainly have the right to respond to the question of relevance.


For these reasons, the adjournment is denied.


We will continue with the proceeding and hearing of these motions today.  We're going to take an early lunch.  We will break now and return at 12:30.  The Panel can sit until 5:30 this afternoon, which will give us five hours, less a break, to get through these proceedings.  Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Regretfully, I must advise the Board, with the greatest of respect, that without an adjournment to prepare a response to the recent raising of the issue of relevance, Pollution Probe cannot adequately or reasonably participate in the now reformulated issues, and so Pollution Probe respectfully withdraws under objection and will not participate further today.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We will proceed with hearing Mr. Ross's motion.


 --- Luncheon recess taken at 11:38 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 12:35 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Mr. Ross, do you wish to begin?


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

MOTION - ROSS FIRM GROUP AND FALLIS FIRM GROUP

Submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  On March 10th, the Ross firm group filed with the Board as well as the applicant its interrogatory questions.  On the 13th of March, we received a response from the applicant, wherein they refused to answer several of our interrogatory responses.


On the 25th of March, we received, and it was filed with the Board, the responses to the interrogatories that Hydro One did respond to.


This motion is in regards to the interrogatories that were refused by Hydro One, and it specifically seeks to have those answers compelled from Hydro One, or in alternative, access to the source of the information, or in the further alternative, a subpoena for the outside group which may have the source of the information.


Further, this motion seeks relief in the way of more fulsome answers on two of the interrogatories that were answered, but not in a fashion that we feel is sufficient.


I will be addressing the specific interrogatories that apply to our group.  Mr. Fallis will be addressing the specific interrogatories that apply to his group.  I will, however, be making submissions as to the law of relevance generally, which I am sure Mr. Fallis will be relying on and bolstering, as well as the issues of privilege and the addition of drivers.


Just for the record, I will set out the interrogatories that I will be discussing: the Ross firm group interrogatories 1.1(i), 1.2, 2.1, 2.2, and 9.1.


The refusal letter dealing with these interrogatories can be found at tab 12 of the combined motion materials, and specifically at page 44 through 45.


As I alluded to a moment ago, I will also be dealing with the issue of -- with regards to the refusal, I will be addressing the issue of relevance and privilege.  Then I will be moving on to seeking a declaration that the OPA, IESO and Bruce be declared drivers of the project.  I will also be seeking a reference to the author of each interrogatory response, and I will get into the details of why I require that when I make it to that point in my argument.


Hydro One has refused to answer the Ross firm group interrogatory 1.1(i) on the ground of relevance.  A copy of the interrogatory itself can be found at tab 2 of the Motion Record, page 17, set out in the affidavit of Paul Ross.  This seeks historical data, specifically reports and data prepared, relied upon in support of the position that the transmission system at the time was sufficiently scaleable to support eight units at the Bruce nuclear generation facility, and also the reports referred to and relied upon in the current project which substantiates the need for increased transmission capacity from the Bruce.


Oh, excuse me.  It was only little i that was dealt with.  Then we move to number 2 on that same page: transmission records from 1985 to present from the Bruce and all lines therefrom.


The response with regards to 1.1 was that the information requested is not relevant.  It's our respectful submission that it is, indeed, relevant, and it is relevant for a couple of reasons.  One, it is relevant because it touches or concerns the matter at issue, which is basically the transmission system which the applicant is currently seeking leave to construct, to upgrade, and it provides a baseline for that transmission system during a period of time when the Bruce nuclear generation facility was operating with more units than it is currently.


In their refusal to Pollution Probe on a similar question, the grounds for the refusal there was that the information prior to 2002 was not available.  That was not the grounds provided to us.  I don't know which to take, but for the purpose of this motion, I will address the grounds that were provided to us, which is the issue of relevance.


At Exhibit 1 of the exhibit book, you will find a letter from our expert.  This letter is referred to in the affidavit of Paul Ross at paragraph 5.  Immediately prior to that, we set out the reasons for the motion and the reasons we're seeking this information, and that is that in order to provide our clients with adequate information to instruct us on how to proceed, we have to understand the project itself, and that includes where everything started, what the baseline transmission and generation was, and what has changed between then and now.


We do this in order not only to understand, but to have the ability to test the assertions of the proponent, which is, in our submission, the basic purpose for examination for discovery disclosure, in this instance interrogatory disclosure.  I will, with respect, be using those expressions interchangeably as the two processes are analogous, to say the least.


Our expert, Mr. Brill, whose resume is attached at tab 2 of the exhibit book, sets out that:

"In order for (his) organization to conduct a thorough evaluation and to gain understanding regarding the justification of the proposed transmission-line, it is necessary to examine historical transmission data showing the actual and proposed power flow on the transmission system from the Bruce generation complex.  This will include historical data to support the ability to carry the full capacity of the Bruce generation complex, with up to eight units operating.  

"It's (his) organization's understanding that the historical transmission was requested in our interrogatories.  They require --"


This is in paragraph 3 and I am just sort of moving around a little bit.

"-- SCA requires this information in order to establish a baseline for the system and to understand the system capacity going forward.  SCA requests this historical information about generation capacities of combined generation capabilities of Bruce A and B and Douglas Point in their best generation periods, and we request the information on the megawatt levels transmitted during the operation of nine and later eight nuclear reactors. 

In the following page they point out that they:

"-- require this information in order to provide a complete and accurate analysis of the need and justification to the proposed project.  It is SCA (the expert's) opinion without this information they are unable to offer an informed opinion as to the existing transmission system's capacity, and the justification of the proposed Bruce-to-Milton transmission-line."


The response from Hydro One, with regards to interrogatory 1.1(i), suggests that it predates Hydro One's existence, which we are not denying.  However, they are an off-shoot of what was Ontario Hydro, and the other organizations that were also broken up and distinguished are still in existence.  We would submit that as a result so, too are the records.

"Hydro One does not consider such matters to be relevant in this proceeding and it is not prepared to conduct the search necessary to address it."

Whether to be sufficiently scaleable for the eight units in 1985.  Two points I would raise from this.  One, we appreciate the specific reference to relevance, because it allowed us to prepare motion materials that dealt with that issue, as opposed to preparing motion materials which would have to anticipate every possible refusal.  We were able to deal with the issue in keeping with the Rules.


Secondly, we would submit that there is no specific reason, or they don't set out with any specificity what their denial of the relevancy is, which they are also entitled or obliged, excuse me, to do under 29.02(a).  However, that being said, it is our submission that the relevance is patent on its face.  


I am going to move through the interrogatories refusals one by one, then I am going to get into the law, at which point I will tie it back into the facts.


I am going to move now to Interrogatory 1.2, wherein the proponent says that:

"The interrogatory's all-encompassing disclosure of transmission records from '85 to present, no cogent reason is provided for the request.  No attempt has been made to relate a request to any part of Hydro One's application or relief thereof."


It is our respectful submission that the interrogatory itself is in the appropriate form, as dictated by the Board.  It refers to the exhibit and appendices, as well as the date of the technical conference.


It refers to the issue that we're relying upon in seeking the information, and that the concerns raised by Hydro One in their refusal are of no consequence and that the only issue to be addressed there is whether those things requested are in fact relevant.


Again, I will address the issue of relevance from a legal perspective in a moment.


You will be glad to hear that my argument will be truncated somewhat with regards to Interrogatory 9.1, in that I was intending on relying on Pollution Probe's submissions with regards to confidential information and filings, that I have nothing prepared, because the main -- one of the main thrusts of their motion was to deal with the issue of confidentiality, and that is the grounds upon which Hydro One has refused to answer Interrogatory 9.1.


And 9.2, as I have indicated in my affidavit material, I had numerous messages from Mr. Rattray from the IESO.  I have not yet responded to those messages.  I have, however, sent him an e-mail indicating that I appreciate his assistance.  He wants to basically pare down what is required, as opposed to providing a massive data dump, and I definitely appreciate that, as do my experts, and I am going to work collaboratively with the IESO in order to get information that is required for my experts.  And, as such, I take no issue with the refusal of Interrogatory 9.2.


There are two interrogatories that deal with either legal opinions or internal memos discussing the provincial land-use policy, which has been a reasonably major factor in the determination of the proposed alternative.  In fact, if the provincial land use policy, in the minds of the proponent, was not complied with, that was grounds for no further investigation of that alternative to be conducted.  So it is, to say the least, a crux issue.


If the interpretation of the provincial land use policy is flawed, if it has not been borne out fully, if it has not been addressed in the minds of the proponent in an adequate way, that is relevant and it should be released to the intervenors who have requested it.


The response from Hydro One on this issue is that it's litigation-privileged.  On the one hand, they say there are no internal memos discussing the provincial land use policy; there is nothing on paper within Hydro One's organization saying, This is the position we're going to take.  I find that very difficult to believe, but I trust my friend.


On the other hand, they say any legal opinion which was sought is subject to privilege.  I will address the issue of privilege from a legal perspective in a moment.  First, I am going to turn to the issue of relevance.


The basic rule as to scope is that a discovery must relate to any matter in issue in the action.  The former phrase -- excuse me.  I apologize.


What is relevant to the matters in issue is defined by the pleadings and is, as such, extremely broad; in this instance, the application and subsequent amendments.  The examining party, us, are entitled to discover for the purposes of supporting their own case, and to put that case to the opponent to obtain admissions and to limit the issues.


We are entitled to interrogate and to undo the adversary's case, or to find out the case we have to meet and the facts that are relied upon by the adversary in support of their case.


It is not a valid objection that the examining party already knows these facts.  The examiner is entitled - indeed, it is a major purpose of discovery - to obtain admissions that will facilitate the proof of that party's case or will insist on the undoing of the adversary's case.


The purpose of examination for discovery is to allow the parties to determine whether the applicant has a good cause of action or defence, and to enable the parties to obtain admissions which would advance their case or weaken that of the opposing litigant.  The test is that of broad relevance, and the issues of admissibility and weight should be left to the hearing.


Questions on an examination for discovery or interrogatories should be answered unless the tribunal is satisfied that they have no semblance of relevancy.


Everything is relevant upon discovery which may directly or indirectly aid the party seeking discovery to maintain his case or to combat that of his adversary.  The Board should not be called on to conduct a minute investigation as to the relevance of each question, and where the questions are broadly related to the issues raised, they should be answered.


Rights to interrogate is not confined to the facts directly in issue, but extends to any facts, the existence or non-existence of which is relevant to the existence or non-existence of the facts directly in issue.


Discovery has a wide scope, and while relevance imposes some broad limits, issues of admissibility and weight have little, if anything, to do with the matter.  Wide latitude is to be permitted.  The examination may be searching, and exploratory questions are relevant so long as they touch the matters in question.


If questions are relevant to the matters in issue or can possibly affect the issues between the parties, if they are questions which may be permitted on cross-examination, then they must be answered.  Admissibility of the information obtained at the hearing is not the test, and questions are permitted as to relevant matters, leaving the question of admissibility of the answer to be determined at the hearing.


It's often said that one may not go on a fishing expedition.  I find little help in that statement.  I take it that a fishing expedition describes an examination for discovery or interrogatories that has gone beyond reasonable limits into areas that are not and cannot be relevant.


In those waters, one may not fish.  In other waters, one may.  That one fishes is not decisive.  It is where the fishing takes place that matters.


Now I will deal with the issue of privilege.  The existence of privilege can limit an interrogatory response, but the existence and extent of privilege is itself limited.


Much of what is learned by a solicitor in preparation of a case is privileged.  This is a quote from a case that I provided to you today and I have subsequently lost, Rubinoff and Newton.


MR. MILLAR:  We haven't circulated that yet.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we get copies and mark it as an exhibit?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe Mr. Ross gave it to us this morning and we're just trying to locate it.


MS. NOWINA:  You have lost it, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  We have misplaced it.  Someone has broken in and stolen all copies.  I think we found it.  I will give that an exhibit number.


I think we are at KM2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. KM2.2:  EXCERPT FROM RUBINOFF V. NEWTON 


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Ross.


MR. ROSS:  At page 2 of the case there is a side bar in my scribbled hand.  The quote that I referred to is:

"Much of what is learned by a solicitor in preparation of a case is privileged, but the moment they use that information for the purpose of founding an action or defence, it must be disclosed."


He must disclose the facts upon which he relies.


In this instance, we're seeking what we assume is a legal opinion that has been prepared that supports Hydro One's interpretation of the provincial land use policy upon which they have made their determination as to what is the acceptable alternative, what is the better alternative.


Clearly, if they're relying upon this opinion in order to further their case, then the privilege is extinguished and the document should be disclosed.


In our respectful submission, all of the questions raised by the Ross firm group in their interrogatories that have been refused, specifically 1.1(i) and 1.2 with regards to historical information, are relevant, and as such, should be answered.


If the request for information was too broad for Hydro One to appropriately respond to it, it was open to them to request more specificity from the drafter of the interrogatory, to open a line of dialogue as opposed to providing a refusal that vaguely refers to the breadth of the question and relies on relevance, in order to ground the refusal itself.


The information requested in 1.1(i) and 1.2 are requests in order to establish a system transmission baseline with similar generation.  It is also in order to understand how the transmission system capable of transmitting all generation from the Bruce complex at one time can no longer do so.  It's relevant.


Interestingly, Pollution Probe has received all of the historical data to 2002 and we have not.  Nor has any reference in our interrogatories responses been provided referring us to this.  We only know of this fact through correspondence between Pollution Probe and the proponent, as well as the motion materials.


Interrogatories 2.1 and 2.2, as I pointed out, seek simply to understand the proponent's interpretation of the provincial land use policy.  Clearly relevant.  The question of privilege rests with the Board.  We submit that as it is -- if an opinion exists, which has not been admitted nor denied by my friend, if an opinion exists that is relied upon in order to determine whether one alternative is suitable or not and to discontinue further investigation of that alternative, that opinion must be disclosed, as the privilege has been extinguished, as the case relies on that opinion.


I will turn now to what the Ross firm group would term "incomplete answers" to interrogatories 3 and 6, and I believe interrogatory 6 may be referring to an interrogatory posed to the IESO.


During the Technical Conference, we were taken through a PowerPoint presentation, very brief PowerPoint presentation, and included in that obviously were slides and we were provided copies of those slides.  One of the slides deals with plan selection methodology and screening and evaluation criteria.  This can be found at tab 13 of the exhibit book.


The second slide, the top heading underneath the title of the slide itself is "government policy assists in achieving policy goals".


We understood this to be distinguished from the land use policy, as it is the final bullet point on that slide.  As such, we requested from the proponent all legislation relied upon, all legislation referred to, and the sections therein.  We requested it in list form.


In their response, we were referred to the background justification for the project, which is very general, and again, talks about Ministerial directives, and we were also referred back to the provincial land use policy.  This does not answer our question.  It is somewhat circular and it was information that was already available to us.


As such, we would renew our request for a list of all of the legislation that is pressing in the application for leave to construct.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, just so I can keep up with you.  This was interrogatory -- what number interrogatory was --


MR. ROSS:  Interrogatory 3.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that in your book of materials somewhere?


MR. ROSS:  It is not.  I apologize.  It is in the interrogatories books, which are a matter of record.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So if I can just -- That is tab 9, I am told, your Interrogatory No. 3.  Response to that interrogatory takes us back to responses to other --


MR. ROSS:  Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, Appendix 1, for the OPA's analysis of the need, where the Ontario directives, the government directives were provided and policies discussed, as well as the response to the Board Staff Interrogatory 1.2, which does not provide a list of the legislation of the sections.


The legislation that comes to bear on this project is clearly relevant.  It wouldn't be a fun job making the list.  It wouldn't necessarily even be an easy job making the list.  However, one was requested.  It bears on the project itself.  It bears on the justification for the project and how the project will proceed.  And it also allows us, as I pointed out in my discussion of the law, it also allows us to see if anything is missing.  Maybe we have already got a list and we want to compare it.


The other interrogatory we request a more fulsome answer, and this may simply be as a result of poor communication on the part of the drafter or understanding on the part of the reader, is the IESO Interrogatory No. 6.


I will give you --


MS. NOWINA:  Where do we find that?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Where do we find that, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Because I am not going to be able to tell you that, I will read it to you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You did file it?


MR. ROSS:  It was filed, correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  If you could just bear with me, I will get that.


MR. ROSS:  It requests examples of contingencies, when they're doing pre- and post-contingency analysis, because I didn't know what a contingency was.


MS. CHAPLIN:  This was your letter of March 10th?


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Chaplin, if I could assist.  It is in tab 10 of our application materials.  The request would be included as part of our response.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  What was the interrogatory?  Number 6?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  Exhibit C,


MS. NOWINA:  Schedule 6?


MR. NETTLETON:  Schedule 1.  Sorry, schedule 6.


MS. NOWINA:  You said schedule 6 earlier?


MR. ROSS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Schedule 6.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Ross.  So you didn't understand the reply or didn't think it was sufficient?


MR. ROSS:  Well, it may have been a drafting problem, and if they didn't understand specifically what I was requesting.  And what I am requesting was actual factual circumstances that would break an insulator string contacting the ground, conductors contacting a tower, a piece of equipment such as transformer failing, what would cause that.


My question is from a practical perspective:  Provide hypothetical events which would occur and have occurred on the grid in the past.


They did answer, they did probably -- I can't speak to it because I am not an electrical engineer, but they most likely have answered that question from a technical perspective.  What I am looking for is a practical, factual perspective, you know,  a line snapping in a windstorm, those sorts of things.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. ROSS:  I will move, if I might, then, to the issue of the relief sought, to have the sources of the information of each interrogatory provided, a name or names of individuals who, if asked the same question, could provide a response and expand upon that response or under cross-examination in a hearing setting.


Rule 29(f) contemplates this.  It doesn't suggest it directly.  It says "if applicable".  But we would submit, from a very practical perspective, if we get to the hearing and there are a group of witnesses up there and we don't know what that witness can speak to, or if that witness is going to be able to address the issues raised in the interrogatories, we will be left in a position similar to that at the technical conference, which I don't believe has -- I don't think that blame is even necessary in the analysis.


Whatever caused the problem, the problem existed.  When we wanted to ask questions of A, B was available.  When we wanted to ask questions of B, A was available.  Or we needed C, who wasn't available.  If we have the source of the information for the interrogatories, we will know to whom to pose the question.  We will know from whom we require further information.


And we just think it is a very practical and easy solution to what will undoubtedly cause problems at the hearing.


I suppose the alternative could be that to each one of my interrogatories I could write a letter to Hydro One requesting that they give me the source of the information, and they can either refuse or provide it; and, if they refuse, I can bring another motion.  But I am hoping we might be able to truncate that and simply have the sources of that information, which must be available because someone drafted the responses, provided to the intervenors on their interrogatories, so that come the time of the hearing, they will be able to know to whom to pose the question.


We are also seeking a declaration that the OPA, the IESO and Bruce are declared drivers of the project, and we couch this request on the minimum filing requirements for transmission distribution rate applications and for leave-to-construct projects.


Before it is raised by my friend, we concede this is not a statute, that they are directives, and, as such, are not legally binding, but we would submit they should be persuasive and they were designed for a purpose.


In the affidavit of Paul Ross, Mr. Ross plagiarized the sections of that and broke them down in terms of their relevance.  I will also note that you can find a copy of that policy in my exhibit book -- in our exhibit book, excuse me, at tab 15, page 49, with underlined sections.


I note that obviously there is emphasis added and that some items have been removed.


In the affidavit, Mr. Ross extracted several relevant factors.  At paragraph 45:

"The factors driving the project must be identified, but the burden remains on the applicant to support the claim of need.  The Board expects, according to the filing requirements, the applicant to work with any external party in development of the required evidence.  In many cases this will be the IESO, although additional evidentiary requirement would apply to any external party on whom the applicant has relied for justification of the need of the project."


In this case, we submit the applicant has relied on the OPA, as they were the -- on the directions of the Ministry, entered into the contract for the supply of power and the refurbishment of the Bruce nuclear units.


They entered into this contract with the deemed generation provision, which we have heard much about, as it is one of the potential prejudices facing not only Hydro One, but the ratepayers of the province.


It has been raised substantively by Hydro One in their application that the deemed generation clause needs to be taken into consideration when we're considering timelines, when we're considering moving this thing along, when we're setting deadlines for subsequent events.


Obviously, this then leads to the Bruce, who is refurbishing these units, who are causing the need, to a great extent, of the project; unless we're to believe that this $600 million project is to allow for some wind generation, which I don't think anyone is even suggesting.


I think it goes without saying, although it may not, that the IESO is a driver.  They provided -- there is direct evidence, although entered by hearsay through Hydro One.  It's probably subject to the official documents exception, but Hydro One has provided evidence in their prefiled evidence from the IESO.


They have to work with the IESO, as a matter of law, in creating this project, and the IESO, as such, is a driver, a participant in the current application and should be declared a driver.


The purpose of declaring the drivers, in our respectful submission, is just to facilitate an ease of information transfer.  It all comes back to our request for answers to our interrogatories; Pollution Probe's request for answers where the information is not available; Mr. Fallis' request for information where information is not available, as well as when it comes time for the hearing.  We will be able to know, again, who to speak to about certain issues to get the whole picture, to provide the best evidence for the Board, to determine the need and justification of the project.  And, in this particular instance, the two issues would be need and justification of the project, as well as the suitability of the proposed alternative, the alternative proposed by the proponent.


I am going to make no friends with my final submission, and I certainly don't blame anyone for not liking what I am going to say, but obviously if the Board finds in favour of our motion and orders the subsequent disclosure, we should be given a little bit of time to receive it, provide it to our experts and have our experts prepare their reports, which we then would file.


This would cause problems with I believe it is the April 6th deadline or April 8th deadline of intervenor evidence being filed, unless exceptions are made or extensions are granted.  As such, we would suggest that the current timeline is stayed until the disclosure is provided, that there should be deadlines set for the subsequent disclosure, and then from those deadlines a reasonable amount of time forward for the experts to review the new material and provide their opinion upon it so the intervenors may file that properly before the Board for its determination.


Just your indulgence for a moment.


In conclusion, it is submitted that the Board has broad discretion with regards to relevancy and that that discretion is broad in terms of its ability to expand on what is relevant, not to preclude that which is relevant.  It is generally accepted that as long as the matter being raised in the question touches upon something that is at issue, that it is relevant.


In the absence of any hardship on the proponent in providing that information and for Hydro One to experience a hardship, we would submit, as an institutional body, that would be a big thing, as they have vast resources -- that the disclosure requested should be provided, so that we have an opportunity to test the proponent's case, because without this information we are relying on current data, data which does not include a system which once operated and seemingly can no longer operate.  And our experts obviously won't then be able to understand how we are where we are today with any amount of certainty.

We will be starting at a point in time that's not capable of providing the information necessary about the full generation at one point.  We will be starting at a point in time subsequent to the decommissioning of certain reactors.  Although the same system is in place, we don't know what it looked like when it was up and running at full tilt and we need to know that.  We need our experts to be able to establish this baseline.

     They need to be able to understand the system as a whole, not just what it looks like today.

     "If for example" -– and I am stealing this from my friend Pollution Probe's motion material –-

"If, for example, future projections regarding the electricity generation from the Bruce nuclear station do not correspond to past experience, serious questions are raised regarding whether there is actually a need for the new proposed line."

I think that sums it up beautifully.  Again, the law of relevance is in favour of the person requesting the information.  It is our submission that the questions that we have raised definitely touch and concern the matters at issue.  The issue is that which is raised in the leave-to-construct application, specifically the need and justification of the project.  It goes directly to need.

     With regards to privilege, as we have submitted, the privilege is extinguished as a result of the proponent's reliance on the opinion in making their case.

     Finally, the information, the source of the information provided in the interrogatories is pivotal to an effective and efficient management of the hearing, so that we may know to who cross-examine as opposed to being, sort of shooting darts in the dark and not knowing who we have up before you, in the absence of the source and then, maybe even beforehand, Will Says. 

     As we have indicated in the further alternative, we would request that an order for the groups that we have provided interrogatories to -- IESO, OPA, OPG and Bruce -- to be ordered to provide responses to those or, in the alternative, further to be summonsed.  We believe that the issue of relevance has been addressed in our arguments-in-chief with regards to the questions themselves, and that if Hydro One is unwilling or unable, or would suffer some hardship in mediating the supply or assisting in facilitating to supply of that information from the third parties, then those third parties themselves should be compelled to provide the information, as it is necessary for the intervenors in order to test the case of the applicant.

     I can't agree with Mr. Klippenstein more.  It is most likely because I have not dealt with the project of this magnitude in dollars.  But when we talk about $600 million, that definitely has an has an effect on me, and it doesn't include the $250 million in near-term and interim measures that go hand in hand with the project.  We're talking about a billion dollars and three questions that need to answered in order for us to test the case of the applicant.

Subject to any questions, those are our respectful submissions.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I have a clarifying question, Mr. Ross, actually what you just said at the end about the three questions.  Is there any distinction?  You have outlined the questions that are at issue, your 1.1(i), 1.2, 2.1 and 2.2, and then 3 and 6.  Do you need the answers to all of those in order for your expert to produce his evidence?      Or is it the 1.1(i) the 1.2 and the 6?  Are those the ones that are required for the production of the evidence?

     MR. ROSS:  The experts would require 1.1(i) and 2.  Six I would require, because I would be doing a legal analysis on whether the statutes were appropriate.  I would not put legislation to my experts as they're dealing specifically with the technical aspects.

     The clarification on 3 would be to assist me in providing information to my clients.  I may be able to request that information from my experts.  However, what I won't be able to do with my experts is to say that's it has happened, and that's the distinction.  What events have happened?  What contingency events have actually occurred?  Because it goes, then, to my --

     MS. CHAPLIN:  That's question number 6, correct?

     MR. ROSS:  Question 6 is, I believe, requesting the list of -- or am I wrong?  Question 6 is the contingency, yes.  Sorry, I apologize.

     The information for contingency I would require for my experts, so that they can see what realities we're dealing with.  And that goes to line security, which is one the issues that needs to be addressed when deciding whether this is the best alternative.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, are you ready to proceed?

     MR. FALLIS:  I am.

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:

     MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair and Panel Members, as I indicated before in the last attendance here I think it is the role of counsel, all counsel present, to assist the Board in making sure that the Board has before it a complete and full amount of evidence and factual information, to allow to you make the decision that the act requires of you to make on this application.

     Our role is to assist in presenting evidence to you and to test the evidence that will be provided by the applicant, to see whether it does meet all of those tests.

     The reason that we are here is because of the fact that the clients that I represent feel, like the clients Mr. Ross represents, similarly put at a disadvantage in being able to understand the fullness of the project.  And we decided that we would do a collaborative approach to keep costs down, and it saves time and money to do that.

     I think at the outset, I can indicate that the questions that have been raised in the interrogatories that have been submitted by the Fallis group are very, very specific to the three generators.  There are over, approximately, 110 questions with some subquestions and a lot of them have not been answered.  I think rather than going through them, because they're numerous, I would categorize them and try to truncate my submissions.

     The object was, in the questions, was to find out what historically each of the generating systems generated in each of the years that they were there, on an average basis, to know -- because whatever was generated was transmitted, because you don't store power.  It goes.  So what is generated is transmitted.

     We had the very first test facility which is the Douglas Point reactor, which was built in the '60s and decommissioned in 1984, followed by Bruce A in the late '70s and completing Bruce B in 1987.  There have been a total of nine reactors that are there, six of which are now working.

     The questions that were related were asking how much power was produced, what line it went down, how much power went down this line and that line.  And I challenged Hydro to confirm that a 230 line would take 1500 megawatts of power.  Would it?  Did it, and did it in those timeframes?

We were trying to get that kind of information, because the expert needed to know the historic information, we were told, to be able to come up with an opinion.

     We thought that it was our role to engage an expert.  We collaborated together to do that, to be able to provide to the Board an independent opinion as to what his opinion would be on the information that he has been provided with, based on what we have been able to assemble from the interrogatories, et cetera, to provide that overall information base to allow him to come to an opinion that he could share with you.

     We don't know what that opinion is, but it may be the very same opinion that Hydro One has in the end, as well.  But until we are able to test that evidence, we want an independent opinion.


What we got initially, the questions were raised by our firm on behalf of the clients that we represent basically in September of last year, presented as questions for the technical conference.  They went to the technical conference on October 15th.  Not one of the questions was answered.  It was said they had to be in interrogatory form.


They were sitting there.  If Hydro One knew that they didn't have that information, which they advised on, I think, February 26th that they had no information before 2002, why didn't they say that on October 15?  


That's a question of the Board.  I challenge the Board to invite Hydro One to explain, because if they didn't have the information on February 26th, I am sure they didn't have it on October 15.  They didn't share that with anybody.  


That's a big question, and a lot of the reason we are here today is because we would have had five months that we could have saved and been going through this process five months ago rather than today.


The information that is needed is very basic.  I would suggest that the starting point for understanding it is the Board Staff itself asked that very question to Hydro One, and the Board asked the question.  It is question number 3, submitted to -- the evidence is at tab, Interrogatory 1.3(i), and the question was:   

"Did Hydro One carry out analysis in regard to how the transmission facilities managed to deliver the entire capacity of the Bruce area generating facilities for that long period of time, a period from in-service of all eight generating units, 6,560 megawatts in the Bruce complex, and the transmission-lines that evacuated that generation until the laying up of the two units?  If so, please provide such analysis.  If not, please provide an explanation why Hydro One felt such analysis is not needed." 


And the interesting -- the questions that we raised was basically in numbers, the same as that question.  In other words, you produced 6,560 megawatts of power when you had eight units running.  You now only produce 5,060 with six units running.  Why can't the electrical highway that you -- that was in place to carry all of the power while the eight units were running, why can't it serve the eight units that are back in place?  That is the gist of the question, and it's a question we asked through the various components of the question.  We asked that question.


It is interesting to note that for our answer, no information is available before 2002.  That's the letter of February 26th and the answer is in our responses, but the information is not available.


And yet the Board Staff doesn't get that answer.  It gets an answer based on information that it does have in that period of time.  It talks about the fact that there were -- the heavy water plants were in place had a large load of 3,000 megawatts.  That is information that was back in the 1980s. 


For me, for our clients, we have no information before 2002.  They talked about the -- there was a failure of the 1980 systems due to generation plant instability.  That is information that obviously existed before 2002.  It is there for the purposes of the OEB Staff, but for our questions it is not available at all.


And that is typical of the answers that came from the Board for its answers.  A lot of the answers would be refer to another response, and then you go back and you refer to a chart, which is a current chart.  Doesn't take it.


If you want an example, I think questions 90 -- just an example of how that worked, I think it is question 92 and 93.  Wait a minute.  Let me see if I have it right.  Just a minute.


There's chart that was indicated at question 6 of the interrogatories of ours.  It seemed to be a popular one to refer back to.  It talks about -- if you look at the tab at tab 3 of the materials, at schedule 6 in the chart attached, that's the most information that we got to anything about the five lines leaving the Bruce.  


There is more questions asked than answers on the form, because -- I don't know exactly what it means, but that's a very popular one.  Go back and see the answer to that at schedule 6.  That is typical of how the interrogatories were answered.  They certainly weren't full.  They were very, very incomplete, three or four lines, and that would be the bulk of the answers. 


So for the most part, the answers were not full.  There was no fullness about them.  They were non-responsive, in most cases, and didn't allow the reader to understand the fullness of the question that was asked.


So it is the historic information that is needed.  Mr. Brill has indicated why he needs the information;  he needs the information to write his report.


So I think that for Hydro to say, Well, we have only been in existence since 1998, is not acceptable.  Hydro One is owned by the government of Ontario.  Ontario Power Generation is owned by the government of Ontario.  They're the shareholders of it.  They were the successors and the various -- and Hydro One Networks Inc. is also owned by the government of Ontario.  They were the successors to Ontario Hydro.  


Ontario Power Generation itself ran Bruce nuclear plant from the dismantling of Ontario Hydro until it leased the facility to Bruce Power LLP.  They ran the facility for that period of time.


For Hydro not to be able to produce the information just does not seem to wash well, particularly when you are trying to build a case for building a new line on the basis that this line does not have -- the existing system does not have the capacity to send power, additional power, down that line.  


The power that is produced right now appears to be, according to the statements in the material, 5,060 megawatts.  That is all that has been produced and that's all that has been produced since 1987, because it is incapable of producing more power without refurbishment or new generators on board. 


So there is no present history to show that they can produce more, because that's all they can -- that's the maximum they can produce.  But they have produced more.


In the material is a -- that was filed is just an example of the statements.  There is a statement of the Honourable Dennis Timbrell.  That is found at tab 16 of the exhibit book as part of the affidavit of Mr. Paul Ross.  It is enclosing it.


But it was a statement that was made by the Honourable Dennis Timbrell to the Minister of Energy for the Province of Ontario June 6th, 1975 before the construction of the first 500 kV line, and the proposal to expropriate land to built that first 500 kV line, which was set beside the existing 230 line where this proposed line is also to be located.


In that material, it was forward-looking.  They said, "The present construction" -- I am reading from page 52 and page 3 of his presentation to the house that day:

"The present construction schedule for Bruce A generating station calls for unit 2 to begin delivering power to the provincial grid by January 1st, 1976, unit 1 a year later on January 1st, 1977, unit 3 by October 1st, 1977 and unit 4 by August 1st, 1978."


So that's what he looked forward to.  And he said -- and the question was the need for the power, to get that power out.


He went on in the same paragraph, again.  He said:

"Power from the first two units transmitted by the existing 230 kV ..."

"... can be transmitted by the existing 230 kV system, but the extra transmission capacity for the third and fourth units is absolutely essential.  If not available, we will incur the costs of generating power by alternate and more expensive fossil fuel means."


What the Minister said -- this is the Minister of Energy.  He was running the province.  He was the head of Ontario Hydro.  He was the king of power in Ontario at that point in time -- he said that the 230 kV system could handle units 1 and 2.  


It was also at that point -- it was the only line that was transmitting the power from Douglas Point.  So you had Douglas Point, which was generating 200 megawatts, plus it could take 230, the whole -- it could take the two units from the Bruce, each of which was 750.  So you have 1,500 megawatts, plus 200, makes 1,700 megawatts.  They could all be delivered by a 230 line.


So now you have three of them in the province, from the Bruce, running there.  That's three 230 lines.  So if a 230 line can take 1500 -- three of them can take 1500 each, that is 4500.  And you have two 500 kV lines, which each of them can take 3,000 megawatts, by what Hydro has said in its application here and in its submissions to the Minister of Energy.  And if you have two of those, that's 6,000.  You add those two up, that is 10,500.  So it was obviously had the capability of transmitting 6560 megawatts back then.


In the material before us, there's information in the material before you that says that the capacity -- this is the OPA speaking -– that their capacity of those lines now is only 5060 megawatts.  The question the Board Staff raised of Hydro One, that we have raised of Hydro One, is:  Where did the power loss go?


So ours is in evidence, but it is a proper question.  And to know that, we need the historic information.  That information, it is not good enough for Hydro to say:  I'm sorry, but we only have information going back to 2002.  Hydro One and OPG are basically the people who know what has been transmitted and what has been generated.  Everything that has been generated has been transmitted from the Bruce.  


The information must exist.  It is not acceptable, I submit, for the Hydro to be able to say we don't have any information.


The other thing I might add is that it is our understanding from discussions with the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission that that commission requires information from nuclear generators all across Canada to be kept for 75 years following the decommissioning of any nuclear unit.  The oldest one that I know of is the one at the Douglas Point, which went out in 1984.  It was decommissioned.  So they still have to keep the information on that for yet an additional 50 years.  So where is the information?


And that is what led us to, when those answers came, we decided to then submit:  Well, if they aren't going to answer the question, let's try and see what we can do.  So we submitted both the interrogatories, sent them to Bruce Power.  They're running the facility.  Maybe they have them.  So we asked the questions of them, and got a letter back from Mr. George Vegh on March 6th saying:

"Accordingly, Bruce Power is not required to provide responses to the interrogatories and will not be doing so."


The questions are, if you turn to tab 4 in the exhibit book, although the other questions were there, there were special questions asked of them about where the records are:  Do you have access to those records?  And where are they?  And they were questions asked about Bruce C, which they have applied for, and they refused to answer anything.


Attached to that there is a copy of the extract from the Bruce C, the new build, next generation, which has a tab that was attached to it showing when they do build Bruce C, they will never have more than, we calculated 6400 megawatts of power, because as Bruce C comes in, it is replacing units in Bruce B that will be retiring because of age.


Mr. Ross and myself sent letters to and interrogatories to Ontario Power Generation.  My interrogatories are actually set out at tab 6, and they asked questions, basically:  Where are all of the records?  Can you help us?  We would like to find this information out.  Asked questions about details of when they operated the system.  What information did they find?  Was the electrical highway sufficient then to transmit power when they had it, to transmit 560 megawatts?  Examples of those questions.  The answer we got back from OPG is basically:  Accordingly, OPG will not be responding further to your requests.  There was a total denial from OPG.


So we asked the questions also of, let's see, the Minister of Energy.  The Minister of Energy, who is there for the Province of Ontario, wrote a letter to the Minister of Energy.  And in the interrogatories, we asked of the Minister of Energy, again, we're at tab 11, page 35.  Those interrogatories set out, again, questions about the, you know, we gave to them the quote from Dennis Timbrell of Hansard, asked questions about the lines, wanted to know information that he had, trying to find the information that Hydro wouldn't give us.


We have an answer back from the Minister of Energy, March 17th.  That's at tab 10, bottom line is, you know, written through the niceties of a Minister as he would write, more softly, but basically they said they will not  -- they're not a party, and we're not going to give you any information.  Bottom line is we are very aware of the interest of landowners and ratepayers of Ontario concerning these types of projects, et cetera, et cetera, but the bottom line is no information from us.


So we've got right now at this point in time the information that we are trying to get to help our expert.  We have asked OPG, we asked the IESO, through Mr. Ross, Mr. Ross has also asked the OPA.  We have asked HONI.  We have asked Bruce Power.  We have asked the Minister of Energy.  And from all of these sources -- and OPG -- from all of these sources we have no information.  There is a code of silence.  Can't get the information.


And it's pretty basic.  I mean it is not, I don't think you can call it confidential when, what did you produce 25 years ago, 20 years ago from 1987 to 1995, what was the production levels?  Because you ran it at a higher system, with higher power going down.  If it was capable then, why isn't it capable now.  Because right now we're not doing any more than we were when it was operated from that period of time for 11 years.


MS. NOWINA:  I think, Mr. Fallis, you are beginning to repeat previous points that you made.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.  Anyway, moving on to the area about the responses that came.  I will only add to what Mr. Ross has indicated, and that is in respect to the requirement that the Board has in Rule 29.


Rule 29 basically says that in the responses that a responding party, which is Hydro One -- it says:

"Where interrogatories have been served and directed on a party, the parties shall -–"

And it says:

"f) specify the intended witness, witnesses or witness panel who prepared the response, if applicable."


None of the answers given, that I can see in any interrogatories to any of the parties, have had the name of the witness or the name of the party who prepared the answer.  And I think it is absolutely mandatory, it should be, that that be given, because we won't know who generated the answer, and if a panel of witness is called, we won't know what he said or --


MS. NOWINA:  That's a very clear point that Mr. Ross articulated well, and I expect Mr. Nettleton to reply to it.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay, thank you.  With respect to Mr. Ross' comments on the drivers, I won't make any further comment on that.  I think that the IESO, OPA and Bruce Power ought to be drivers and so found by this Board.  I think that their evidence is absolutely critical to understanding this, particularly the Bruce Power, who, without the information, won't be able to have a line if the Board doesn't approve it.


So their information is critical and I think we should be able to examine them as your Rules suggested.  You ought to be able to test the authors, the evidence of those drivers.  We should be able to test it as well by cross-examining, because that will allow us to give you the evidence through the cross-examination.


So I, on behalf of my clients, would like to have the Board order that each of the drivers answer in full the interrogatories that were asked and have been filed with the Board, and ought to be -– I don't know -- they weren't reproduced in the material here, because there was a response from anyone, and this is a response to the response:  We're not giving you any information.  But that is in response and it should be added to the material that is there, but I am asking the Board to order the summons to each of those three parties to answer the interrogatories that we made up.


I think that those orders should be supplemented with a requirement that they do provide all historical information that they have, and, if they don't have it, if they could identify where that information is.  


I think it's incumbent on those parties to work as closely with you as possible, because it's trying to find that information and it's -- how can we prepare a report if we can't get the information that our expert needs to prepare?


So having said -- having said that, I think that this Board must -- if it has to do that, it -- obviously there is more time that is needed than the present schedule would permit.  I would suggest that if it really -- knowing that there hasn't even been a response, the terms of reference have not been approved by the Minister of Energy, and there has been a substantial period of time that will go forward after, if they are approved.  We don't know whether they will be approved or if there's going to be contestation about the terms.  Don't know.  That hasn't happened yet.  I don't think that the two processes are in step.


I think this process is way ahead of the other process, and it can afford the time to slow the process down, because the other process hasn't even really got under way, so that at least the information can be gathered, proper information can be gathered and shared with the intervenors so that they can do their job.


Mr. Klippenstein this morning wasn't asking for an abundance of time for his portion of it, but I think that if the Board were to order the names, for example, of the witnesses, I mean, that's going to take some time to do that.  There are 400-and-some questions.  Obviously they were generated by people.  We need to know that so that we know who to ask in due course.  


It there is additional information of history that is needed, we're going to have to have time to give that to the experts.  So I don't see how we can possibly work with a deadline of having a report in your hands next week from an expert that can't answer the questions because he doesn't have the information to base his report on.


It just is too onerous to do.  I don't think that -- if you don't have that information, I don't know how the Board can make a -- if an expert can't form an opinion about whether the line is needed or not, how can the Board form an opinion without the information of experts?


We have only had since the 25th of March the deadline for filing this information.  We have had a very short period of time.  So it's a process that I suggest to the Board, that it should revisit all of the dates and allow this -- while additional information is gathered and provided, so that there can be some meaningful analysis so that it can be presented to the Board in a more appropriate and beneficial way.


You must remember that this is, as Mr. Ross has indicated, a process that will involve an expenditure of upwards of $1 billion, and for the Board to contemplate ordering the -- approving the project in the absence of information that it needs -- it should have, as the experts also should have, and as the Board Staff have requested in their answer to --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, I think you already told us that.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  All I'm saying is that we need more time.  I think that whether you call it a stay, whether you call it an adjournment, that the Board should revisit the dates and provide some additional time to allow the additional information to be provided.


I don't think anybody's going to be hurt by it, because you've got another step that's -- I don't understand why it is so slow with the Minister of Energy, but it is.


MS. NOWINA:  We talked about the EA before, Mr. Ross did, this morning.


MR. FALLIS:  Anyway, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Pappas, did you have any brief comments?

Submissions by Mr. Pappas:


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  I have.  I don't know if they distributed them up to you yet.  I have my submissions in a succinct form.  If I could have a moment to pass them out to some of the proponents to the application?


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit KM2.3.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  I think there may be in fact three documents, Madam Chair.


[Mr. Millar and Mr. Pappas confer]


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the one that we have already taken up, it says "Issues Day" across the top.  That can be KM2.3.

EXHIBIT NO. KM2.3:  SUBMISSIONS OF MR. PAPPAS.


MR. MILLAR:  There is then a separate document that starts -- it looks like to be an e-mail.  The subject line says "OPG Disclosure", which Mr. Mikhail is bringing up.  We will call that KM2.4.

EXHIBIT NO. KM2.4:  E-MAIL DOCUMENT OF MR. PAPPAS RE: "OPG DISCLOSURE"

MR. MILLAR:  Then KM2.5 appears to be an article from the Orangeville Citizen.

EXHIBIT NO. KM2.5:  ARTICLE FROM THE ORANGEVILLE CITIZEN.


MR. PAPPAS:  What did you name the article?


MR. MILLAR:  2.5.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.


I have put these together, and basically this will be my submission, with perhaps the odd aside, but also this way it will facilitate any questions that the Board may wish to ask, because not only will you just hear me, you can verify whatever I said by looking at the data.  


This is also for the benefit of the other opposing intervenors, as well as the applicant and the proponents, in which case, when they answer afterwards, they will have most of what I said right in front of them to make it easier.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. PAPPAS:  Now, the first item is simply from the Issues Day verifying that, in fact, the Board can bring in expert witnesses themselves.  Asked and answered.


The next, page 1 of 2, was an e-mail I sent in.  We have had a great deal of difficulty with some of the e-mails.  The people who have been eliminated from the e-mail list keep popping back on, with the result that we have e-mails kicked back, and sometimes -- sometimes it's clear that only some were kicked back.  Other times, I have no idea whether the thing got delivered at all.


So I re-sent this in, because it had to do with the decision and order, and it seemed to me that this particular item may not have been seen and reviewed and considered in that matter.  However, as it also applies to this, I passed it along, anyway.  Basically, what I say here is, if you did review it and you made the decision, anyway, then it doesn't matter.  I'm fine.


My concern was that it may have not been reviewed by the Board, in which case you may want to reconsider it, if it has merit, in terms of that decision and order.


I will just read from the actual submission.  I put it in point form to keep everything as short and succinct as possible.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe, Mr. Pappas, just so I understand, that document with the e-mail, you are referring to the confidentiality decision at that point?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  But also -- as I say, it also relates to the issue here about replying to these interrogatories and what you might think is confidential, because, as far as I understand, there is nothing confidential to the Board, but it is up to the Board to decide whether that is confidential to us, whether we can look at it or not.


MS. NOWINA:  Give us a moment, Mr. Pappas.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, there is nothing in the motion before us that has to do with confidentiality.  I don't think, Mr. Ross.  I didn't hear any submissions on confidentiality for you and Mr. Fallis.


MR. ROSS:  No, ma'am.


MR. PAPPAS:  I am dealing with relevance as well though in this.  It was covering both.  So that's why I feel it is still relevant to hear.  I will just read bits out of it, okay?

"The OPG submits that pragmatism and regulatory efficiency are better served by not requiring the production of complicated, confidential and or proprietary models."


However, it is only the confidential information that should even be considered here.  I believe that the OPG has confused efficiency with expediency.  These are not the same thing.  If the complicated and proprietary non-confidential information is of value to the consideration of this application, then it should be submitted.  As to the confidential material, that is up to the Board to decide on.


And I made this a suggestion, that would -- you know, it would require agreement by not just the Board, obviously from other intervenors.  My suggestion was that perhaps the issue of confidential information and models can be dealt with as follows:  The Board could arrange -- because they can bring in experts -- the Board could arrange to have a third party undertake the alternative runs of the model for the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  Again, Mr. Pappas, I believe we have dealt with the model, and we have already made a decision on that and we don't have any further questions regarding that model.


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps you could take us to your other submissions, Mr. Pappas.  I am not sure the e-mail is relevant.


MR. PAPPAS:  That's right, I will just move ahead.  I will just move ahead.  I will take my notes.  Okay.


Aside from the confidentiality, there is still the matter of the Board being able to bring in experts to this application.  It was my suggestion that perhaps the Board could retain two or three experts in total, like -- I will back up a bit.

"The Board voiced the concern regarding the number of experts that may be engaged by the intervenor and the resulting costs to the process.  As the Board can bring forward experts regarding any application, this might provide a more advantageous and perhaps appropriate course of action.  Those intervenors who have not as yet retained experts may find this agreeable.  The intervenors will already have experts, and may wish to continue to retain them for balance.  The entities with the greatest expertise in this matter, in fact, are the manufacturers of electrical technology.  Some of whom have a history of over a century in this field.  They are the experts that the utilities must turn to for consultation and studies on transmission and generation issues, as they have the greatest expertise.  Certainly the utilities do not have this expertise in-house, or they would not have to turn to these other entities.  While conflict of interest may be considered an issue here, I believe otherwise.  While these various entities are in competition, they all hold the same views on technology.  That is to say, that they all may claim they have the better devices, but they all offer the same kind of devices, the same kind of technology.  On that matter, their expert opinions would not conflict, nor be a matter of conflict."


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, excuse me.  We have we have received your e-mail.  We have read it.  It is interesting.  It has to do with the Board obtaining expert advice and who that might be.


I don't see how it relates to the motion before us today.  And we have read it --


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  -- previously. 


MR. PAPPAS:  I felt that because of the other matters of this past information and that, since it's still going to have to go before experts for appropriate evaluation, I was suggesting a way around that.


MS. NOWINA:  Some parties have --


MR. PAPPAS:  I will move on to the next thing.


MS. NOWINA:  -- retained experts.


MR. PAPPAS:  The next one is KM2.4.  It is a further submission regarding historical information, confidential information and confidentiality in general.  Now this is not the confidentiality we dealt with before.  This has to do with why some of these entities are refusing to provide the information.


Now, simply and in point form regarding OPG, Bruce Power and disclosure in particular:

"1. OPG is an intervenor.  

2. OPG is a successor of Ontario Hydro.  

3. OPG is the Lessor to Bruce Power.  

4. As Lessor, OPG may inherit whatever occurs regarding this application and is thus a driver, because the OPA has cited power from Bruce as necessitating this application.  

5. OPG holds information and documentation relative to this application.  

6. History regarding both transmission in Southwestern Ontario and the generation feeding it are of absolute importance in determining the appropriateness of this application.  

7. Bruce Power is an intervenor and the lessee of the OPG.  

8. Power generated by Bruce Power is presented as a driving issue in this application by the OPA, which thus makes Bruce Power a driver of this application.  

9. All drivers are responsible for providing any information deemed essential for the appropriate understanding and process of this application. 

Regarding the above in general.  

The applicant has claimed that we may only consider this application in isolation.  Yet the prime driver, the OPA, has made it clear that this application is intimately involved with other transmission and generation applications and issues.  They have made it clear in their own available documentation that this application is but a portion of a larger plan.  Thus it is inappropriate to claim that this association cannot be investigated.  The foremost concern regarding this application is that it doesn't address important issues facing our electrical energy future.  It is a fact, supported by IESO documentation, that Nanticoke cannot be retired if the refurbished Bruce units, and any new units at Bruce are to be brought on-line.  In fact, any decrease in power generation and production of reactive power from Nanticoke, without replacement in the south, will result in a necessary decrease of generation from the Bruce facilities presently in operation.  Thus this application is actually counter-indicated."


The point here is that they also go on to say that not only does that mean the present output will be restricted, but that it seriously jeopardizes the ability to bring on the two refurbished units.


I'll get back to that further on.

"The appropriate solution appears to be the installation of many generating units throughout the GTA, Golden Horseshoe and other major demand centres in Southwestern Ontario.  These would provide more appropriate local generation and necessary reactive power to support the system.  The application of FACTS technology throughout would not only further supply the necessary reactive power to allow the retirement of Nanticoke and even power flow from the Bruce, but would offer other important benefits regarding reliability.  This technology provides voltage control, enhanced transmission capacity of existing lines and power flow control.  It can provide the very transmission capacity sought by this application.  Yet study parameters were set so as to avoid the necessary devices that this would make this practicable.”


A small extension here is that it has been well understood, from the manufacturers and in the electrical industry worldwide, that this particular type of situation where you have a very large thermal generating unit and long transmission-lines, is subject and is -- and the main cause of this is actually these large massive generators and turbines.  SSR, Sub-synchronous resonance.  


It has been understood for decades that in that situation, you can't put on unenhanced conventional series capacitors.  You can't do it.  They understood that.


However, they came up with a solution over 30 years ago, and that's power electronic control.


ABB, in that huge thing they put out, says clearly that if they did, if they applied the thyristor-controlled series reactors, they would not need the other line, that it would not only take care of the power flow problems, it would allow full series compensation, because just think of it this way.  The thyristors act as a firewall.  After that, the --


MS. NOWINA:  Let me try to draw a line here between your submission, Mr. Pappas, and the motion before us.  


Are you making these -- 


MR. PAPPAS:  This is information they are supposed to be giving us.


MS. NOWINA:  Are your submissions, then, that the historical information is necessary in order for you to explore these points?


MR. PAPPAS:  Exactly.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. PAPPAS:  I will jump on, then.  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that may be --


MR. PAPPAS:  We don't need that many asides, I guess.


"The application of FACTS technology throughout not only further" -- okay, I did that.

“It appears that the decision to enter into an agreement to refurbish the Bruce A units was extremely ill-advised.  Refurbishment of the Pickering units would have been a better choice, as this would have not conflicted with the retirement of Nanticoke as regards reactive power”.  


This all has to do with the way in which the various components are on the system.  It is understood that Nanticoke is necessary in order to bring power from the Bruce and, even more so, that without -- without the reactive power in the south, our ability to import from Michigan would also be in jeopardy.


Now, we're looking at -- we're being told we have to bring this line down, but all I'm seeing from all of this evidence is that it's contraindicated and it goes against, A, the promise to get rid of the coal, and that it actually interferes with the flow of power in our province.  I will move on.

"It appears that the matter of this application is far more complex than the mere installation of a transmission build.  In fact, this application may very well be a matter of precedent.  If previous decisions were in error, then it is incumbent upon us all not to compound this further.  Are we to throw good money after bad?  "Thus, it is foremost that all relevant information be disclosed. It is not up to the applicant, the proponents nor any entity with any financial stake in generating facilities to decide what is and is not relevant for disclosure.  That is in the province of the OEB.

"In the last issues and scheduling day, Mr. Nettleton claimed that they were not required to make our case for us.  In such legal adversarial procedures as criminal law and civil litigation, this is true.  Here, however, full disclosure is an expectation in the process.  

"The applicant is expected to conclude all relevant information in its evidence, in its application.  The projects they propose are required to be in the best interests of the domestic energy consumers.  These are not analogous to private commercial and industrial development zoning applications where the actual benefit approval is understood to be to the private entity seeking approval.

"Here the benefit must be to the domestic consumers, now and into the future.  This demands full appropriate disclosure.”


I will now move on to the last bit and I will go through this quickly.  This is 2.5.


The reason I have included it, it was -- I sent this letter in response to a letter by Mr. Schneider, the director of the project.  The Orangeville Citizen had published a number of articles on the issue of this build, and he sent them a letter.  And it was the very end of the letter that struck my attention and which I responded to.  As you can see, I responded, too, with an excerpt from an IESO document.


And I quote --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, before you even get into this, can you tell me how it is relevant to the motion before us?


MR. PAPPAS:  Because, again, it has to do with the information we're not getting and information that would put a whole different light on this transmission build and its relevance, because, as I said, we're looking at -- if we want to decommission Nanticoke, we can't put generation in at the Bruce.  If we can't put generation in at the Bruce, then we don't need the line.  So...


MS. NOWINA:  Is it to the same arguments that you had before, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, but from another and very important angle.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Maybe you could summarize and not read all of the paper we have here.


MR. PAPPAS:  I don't have to, because I can leave you to read the excerpt.  I don't have to get into that.


MS. NOWINA:  We will.


MR. PAPPAS:  I've got maybe a paragraph on that first one.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. PAPPAS:  I quote Mr. Schneider from his March 6th letter:

"In this way, the Bruce-to-Milton project would support Ontario's clean air initiatives and coal shutdown and policy.  In fact, this will do no such thing.  The following excerpt from the IESO states, in clear language, that any cutback at Nanticoke would (a) mean an immediate cutback in anything that could be generated from the Bruce now, and would jeopardize the ability to even bring the other two units on-line."


Now, I think that's got to be very important here.


Finally, there is just this last little bit.  Again, it was to the paper, but it was just submissions of mine that I passed on.  And this goes on:

"During the interrogatory phase of the OEB process, various intervenors filed interrogatories that the applicant or proponents refused to answer for various reasons.  As a result, a number of intervenors filed submissions claiming that some of these refusals were baseless, inappropriate and simply evasion.  

"One particular issue of interest to a number of intervenors, including the OEB Board Staff, follows.  During a period of number of years, all eight Bruce units were online and generating power.  The existing transmission-lines carried that power with no difficulty.  It is reasonable to ask why that was possible then, but not possible now with the refurbishment and reinstallation of the two units that have been off-line for some time now.

"Why is it necessary to build a new double transmission-line now?  Hydro One and OPA, successor to Ontario Hydro, claim they have no access to such information, when OPG, another successor, was asked if they had information; however, they claimed they were under no obligation to provide it.  

"There were also claims of confidentiality which were debatable.  This is what resulted in a number of submissions.  On March 20th, 2008, Pollution Probe filed a notice of motion with the Board asking orders that would lead to more extensive responses to various interrogatories.  These interrogatories are characterized in two types..."

Historical, confidential.  The Board decided to hold a motion day to hear the motion.  In addition, the Board will hear other motions from other intervenors."


And that's it.  So unless there are any questions, I am all done.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pappas.  Let's take a break.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  We will return at 25 minutes to 3:00.


--- Recess taken at 2:14 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:35 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Nettleton, before you begin -- and I hope we're not catching you too much by surprise -- Pollution Probe has withdrawn their motion.  And I think that some of their concerns, in any case, regarding historical information, are the same kinds of information that is being requested by Mr. Ross.  So I am sure we will hear from you on that.


In tab H of their Motion Record, Pollution Probe raised a number of other issues that they were looking for responses on, which -- I believe Hydro One responded to those requests in a letter or a series of letters.


So the Board is interested in the responses or in hearing your submissions on the problems that Hydro One has in responding to those interrogatories, as well.


So that's Pollution Probe's interrogatory 9 through Pollution Probe's interrogatory 10, 11, 12, 19, 20, 38, 39, 42, 43, 47, 48, 49, 50 and 51.  I hope that isn't as onerous as it sounds.  I think that there was a blanket response to many of those.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I will try and do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  What I was considering over the lunch hour and, indeed, at this break, was the task at hand and how I might be able to both be efficient with my remarks and also helpful to the Board in respect of the motions that are before you.


What I had anticipated doing, Madam Chair, was not spend a great deal of time on the written submission that I have filed.  I think that that submission, albeit it was in response to Pollution Probe and their motion, much of it pertains to common issues in respect of these motions, namely the production of historical information.  And it equally applies to the motions at hand and, indeed, I think it would be helpful to the Board and responsive to the very questions that you raise, Madam Chair, in terms of the specific interrogatories, because in that submission, you will recall that we made specific statements in respect of each of the enumerated interrogatories that Pollution Probe had indicated.


It may very well be that to address your points, that you have just raised now, is to just refer to those paragraphs and just have a discussion with you about those.


Our position on them hasn't, quite frankly, changed, and we have provided or attempted to provide an elaboration of the circumstances that we have concerning those.


I don't know if it suits the Panel best to start there, or whether you would prefer to deal with the motions and the commentary that we have received today, this afternoon.


MS. NOWINA:  It is up to you, Mr. Nettleton.  Whatever you are comfortable with.


MR. NETTLETON:  Perhaps what I will do is save that for last.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  And we will proceed with the comments.


The motions that have been made relate to the compelling of additional information in respect of interrogatories that have been asked.


The starting point, quite frankly, Madam Chair and Panel Members, is, in my respectful submission, the starting point of:  What is the interrogatory process intended to achieve, and what is it about?  And, in that respect, we turn to Rule 28.02 (d).


In that Rule, Madam Chair, I think it is helpful to indicate and review it together so that there is a common understanding, and that is that:

"Interrogatories shall contain specific requests for clarification of a party's evidence, documents or other information in the possession of the party and relevant to the proceeding."


So, while we had an interesting discussion this morning on the topic of relevance, the fact is that interrogatories, under your Rules of Practice, are at the outset intended to be relevant.  They're intended for a purpose related to clarify evidence.  They are intended to be for the purpose of assisting the Board in considering the applications that come before you.


This application that comes before you is not a rate case.  This application that comes before you is made pursuant to Section 92, and this application, therefore, must take into account the three factors found in Section 96 of the act.


So the interrogatories, in my respectful submission, have to, by definition, comport with those requirements and be relevant and relate to clarifying evidence that the applicant is relying upon for the purposes of demonstrating to you that the relief that the applicant is seeking can be granted.


It is the case of he who alleges must prove.  The applicant does have the onus of demonstrating that the public interest is served by the Board granting its approval of the sought relief.  But in turn, with respect to interrogatories, in my respectful submission, it's clear that interrogatories cannot be a fishing expedition.  They cannot relate to every record that Hydro One Networks Inc. is in possession of, relating to its transmission system.


That's not helpful.  That's not seeking to clarify a party's evidence.  That's not the evidence that Hydro One is seeking to rely on for purposes related to its application and the sought relief.


It's not relevant to the proceeding, or at least it hasn't been demonstrated to be relevant to the proceeding.  


I will come back to that theme in a minute, the difference of questions that ask for analysis versus questions that ask for specific information, that have been asked and answered.


With respect to the historic information, it's clear, Madam Chair, that what Hydro One has attempted to do is be helpful as it relates to information that it is in possession of.  It has sought to provide information relating to data dating back to 2002.  It has sought to provide transmission information related to things such as the Douglas Point transmission-line, and capabilities of that line.


It has, though, had to say that we are not in possession of generation data.  And that is because Hydro One does not own or operate generation facilities.  That is why, at the outset, we said that the most relevant feature associated with a refusal to answer questions of that sort is the fact that we are not in possession of it.


But the question of should it be in any event produced, does not simply stop there.  It goes further, to the question of:  Why is this needed in any event, and how is it relevant to the proceeding at hand?


The application before you is for the approval to construct and operate new transmission facilities.  The application before you is predicated upon a determination of need, and that need has been based upon a generation forecast.


Generation forecasts are effectively supply forecasts, and generation forecasts are, by definition, prospective in nature.  Out of a generation forecast comes the design of a transmission facility.  Out of the design of a transmission facility is borne the application that must obtain approval for you -- or from you so that it may be constructed and operated.


What we have understood and what I have included in the materials, and I think it is a well-accepted proposition now, is that relevance and materiality of requested information is the test.  Relevance and materiality of historical generation information to the sought relief that has been asked in this application has not been demonstrated.


The question, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair and Panel Members, is:  Is the information necessary to fulfill the Board's mandate in the context of the application that is before you?


Again, the Board's mandate in this proceeding is governed by sections 92 and 96 of the act.


I mentioned this morning that Pollution Probe's theory about historical generation information being relevant was something that had been discussed at the outset of the first procedural order and the first procedural day back in June of 2007.


When I look at the issues list that was developed after much work and procedure, I don't see any specific issue on the issues list that says historical information regarding the transfer capability or transmission capacity of the system in 1984 is relevant to the proceeding before this Board.


There was clearly an opportunity for parties to pursue and make available to the Board their views on this particular theory, and to attempt to have the question of whether the transmission capability and transmission capacity of the Ontario transmission grid is relevant dating as far back as 1984 to this application.


Hydro One's position is clearly that it's not.  Hydro One's position, again, is that the facilities that have been applied for are predicated upon a generation forecast.  A generation forecast has been put together by the OPA.  That generation forecast was first included in the application materials.  It was included in the OPA's letter of December 22nd, 2006.  


It showed not only Bruce Power generation, but also forecast wind, in terms of planning, committed and uncommitted, wind resources.


This isn't some late-breaking news story that the application before the Board is based upon a prospective forecast, and there are many questions and much evidence already on the record about why the current transmission facilities don't meet the need, why there is a difference between, for example, the concepts of transfer capability or transmission capability and transmission capacity.


We have, in fact, gone through the process of a technical conference, and I will refer you to the technical conference transcript, at page 21, where the presentation that Hydro One and the OPA and the IESO provided to parties included the following, and I quote:

"In 1985, the system at that time was designed to be adequate for eight units at Bruce for the condition of the study at that time.  So why is today's system only adequate for six units?" 


And the presenters in that technical conference then went on to elaborate specifically and to enumerate the reasons why that question needed to be answered and the reasons to explain the answer.  That's all in the transcript.


That same -- those same reasons have come into the responses to the interrogatories in this proceeding.  The Board Staff question, Interrogatory 1.3, asked the question regarding, What analysis have you done?  What analysis has Hydro One done to look at the system as it then existed?


And Hydro One responded to it.  They responded, and they listed three key points as to what's happened since 1980.


What is not clear, Madam Chair, in my respectful submission, is:  What underlying request that's being made to you today is, in any event, relevant?  Why is this generation data, in any event, required or relevant to the exercise at hand?


People have asked and responses have been provided, and the oral hearing exercise will provide another opportunity, a further opportunity, for people to ask OPA, ask the IESO and ask Hydro One witnesses regarding responses that have been provided to interrogatories.


But what I am hearing from my friends is that the requested information is needed for the purpose of doing historic baseline studies.  But recall, where are historic baseline studies about the transmission system as it existed in the past?  When was that brought up at Issues Day?  How is that considered to be relevant to the task at hand of planning for the future?


Hydro One's case is, again, that we are to meet a forecast -- a generation forecast.  The generation forecast has been predicated upon design assumptions.  One of those design assumptions includes making assumptions about installed capacity.  That's the evidence of this proceeding.  That evidence is the subject matter of being tested.


If Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross's Floridian expert wants to challenge the way in which the OPA creates a generation forecast and wants to test the assumptions that have been used in putting together that generation forecast, that's fair game.  That's an appropriate use of this Board's time.  It is testing the evidence that Hydro One is relying on for meeting the application and the relief sought in the application.


But it still leaves unanswered the question of:  Why do you need the generation data?  What do you need the generation data for in order to test the evidence?


The evidence, again, is about the prospective generation forecast.  If Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis wants to suggest or have witnesses attend, expert evidence appear and say that generation forecasts should be taking into account, you know, the fact that the system operated differently in the past, they can do that.  But the question remains about how that actual historic data becomes relevant to the cause.


Either the application that Hydro One has filed, based upon the forecast that is presented to you, is accepted and the application is approved, or if the generation forecast is found to be weak, frail, unreasonable, based upon irresponsible design criteria, then there is significant doubt as to whether or not this Board can approve the application as filed.


But it is not a proceeding intended to be one where third parties are designing the transmission system.  That's well beyond the scope of this proceeding.


The OPA is an independent organization, vested with the responsibility of system planning.  It's not like they are a for-profit, out to make a buck on designing systems, to make sure that their self-interests are satisfied.


The legislative scheme contemplates independence.  That is why the OPA is present.  That's why the OPA will be present, and that's why the OPA has done the forecast.


So, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, it's still an outstanding question as to what basis the information, the historic generation information -- what is the relevance and materiality of the generation, the historic generation information, and how that is relevant, how that information is relevant to this proceeding.  How it is going to assist the Board in its assessment of the application that is before you today.


Again, the application that is before you today is not predicated upon 1984 data.  It's based upon what is the reasonable expectations and forecasts of the future.


Let me turn to Mr. Ross' questions.  And quite frankly, I thought Mr. Ross did a fine job of explaining the concerns that he had with respect to the individual requests that had been made.  At least we could understand what the issues were.


I am still at a loss as to how to respond to Mr. Fallis, and for that matter the comments and remarks made by Mr. Pappas, because I just frankly don't know what the concerns are.  I can make assumptions, but at least with Mr. Ross I could understand an articulation of what the specific concerns are.


So let me go through those specific concerns and reply to those.


With respect to the first interrogatory that Mr. Ross has indicated as being a non-response, that is 1.1(i).  The question was first stated with a statement, a statement that reads:

"The 1985 Ontario Hydro transmission system was designed to be sufficiently scaleable for eight units at the Bruce generation complex."


That is not Hydro One's evidence.  That's a statement that Mr. Ross has made.  It appears as if it's a statement made as a preamble to a question, but it's not quoted.  It is not cited as to where it has been made.  In any event, it forms the start of the question.


The interrogatory goes on to say:

"Please provide the reports and data prepared, referred to or relied upon to support the position that the transmission system was sufficiently scaleable to support eight units at the Bruce."


Well, by definition we're talking about a question about the past, about 1985, about what the situation was back in 1985.  That is not the applicant's evidence.  That is not the position that the applicant is bringing forward to the Board.


What the applicant is bringing before you is a position that says:  These facilities are needed to meet a future need.


What the issues list discusses in terms of sufficiently scaleable is whether or not the application and the applied-for facilities that comprise that application are sufficiently scaleable, not what has happened in the past.


Again, Madam Chair, I refer specifically to the response in the Technical Conference where Hydro One tried to be helpful.  It turned its mind to this very issue, about why what happened in 1985 can't be sufficient to meet the need of the future.  That was a broad and important part of the Technical Conference.  And it has found its way into the record of the proceeding, again, through the response that Hydro One provided to Board Staff interrogatory 1.3.


In my respectful submission, perhaps a better response would have been, in that case, of:  Please see Board interrogatory 1.3.  Because in Board interrogatory 1.3, we do talk about, again, the causes of what has happened since 1985, and what's precipitating the change in circumstances driving the need for this application.


But to go further than this, and as we said in Board Interrogatory 1.3, that the analysis that Hydro One has done is not limited to one specific document.  It isn't like there is a silver bullet here.  We've tried as best as possible to explain the analysis and summarize it in a cogent manner for dissemination for the purposes of this proceeding, and again, it is found in that response.


So in our respectful submission, the evidence is on the record in this proceeding.  There is nothing more that should be required in terms of a response, requiring greater and more detail than what has already been provided.


Maybe as an aside, Madam Chair, I would remark about one of the comments that my friend Mr. Ross made in his submissions, that concerned me.  And the concern was really about whether intervenors in this proceeding are intended to have knowledge of the content of the responses to interrogatories that have been made by others.


So, for example, the Board Staff interrogatory response that Hydro One has put together and whether or not that information is intended to be known to, and considered by, all others who are intervenors in this proceeding.


Certainly the case is, is that Hydro One has provided copies of its responses to all parties.  It's in the knowledge and domain.  We have assumed that the information requests or the interrogatory responses are known to all parties.


So I say this only because when my friend said -- and I didn't get it specifically down, I didn't write down specifically the concern that some parties got better answers than us -- but I wanted to make it clear that it is not the case that Hydro One has precluded service of its interrogatories on intervenors in this proceeding.  It has taken the step of ensuring that those interrogatories have been filed with the Board and served on all parties.


With respect to Ross 1.2, the question asks:

"Please provide all transmission records from 1985 to present."

And Mr. Ross indicates, citing authority regarding civil procedure and examinations for discovery, that that is an appropriate question.  It's an appropriate question because there may be some relevance that that response will elicit.



In my respectful submission, Madam Chair, it is not an appropriate question.  In fact, it's quite counter to Rule 29.02(d), which requires interrogatories to be relevant and clear and related to the evidence and the application that is before you.


Hydro One's position, again, is that this is tantamount to a fishing expedition.  There has been no explanation as to what this information is intending to achieve to clarify the application before you.  Again, the application before you concerns the used and usefulness of to-be-built, constructed, operated, depreciated transmission facilities.  The need for those facilities is predicated upon a generation forecast.


With respect to interrogatory response 2.1, Mr. Ross  -- and I will make these comments in respect of 2.1, which is the issue of privilege, privilege relating to legal opinions and the like.


What our response was there, Madam Chair, was, please -- effectively, Please, refer to correspondence dated March 13th.


If we turn to that correspondence, it's actually found at page 4, at the bottom.


I think, to be fair to my friend, he was suggesting -- he discussed 2.1 and 2.2 together in a combined fashion.  2.2 was over on page 5, our response to 2.5.  2.2 is over on page 5, as well.  I will be referring to that.


The suggestion that Mr. Ross made was that we had legal opinions and that because we had relied on legal opinions, that those legal opinions then became producible.  But that's not the evidence in this proceeding.


If it was the evidence in this proceeding, he would be right, or at least he would be right in saying there is an open question about whether the legal opinions become relevant, relevant because the applicant is relying on them.  But that's not what the answer says.


The answer says legal opinions are subject to a litigation privilege.  They're subject to solicitor client privilege.


And the question is, is:  On what basis will it be helpful to the Board, in its consideration of this application, to circumvent well understood, well recognized solicitor-client privileges that exist in respect of documents prepared on behalf of clients by legal service providers?  On what basis would that information help or facilitate the Board in respect of this application?


Mr. Ross has indicated, well, it would be helpful, because one of the things that Hydro One has indicated, and indicated at the technical conference, was that part of the evaluation criteria that it used to assess the reasonable alternatives to the project included the consideration of the government's land use policy.


And I take you to page 5 of my March 13th letter.  Again, if it was the case that there was some legal opinion that Hydro One was predicating its interpretation of the land use policy upon, there would at least be some open question about whether that opinion would be helpful.  But that's not what the response says.


What the response says is:

"The land use policy has been interpreted through the consideration of its plain and ordinary meaning, taking into account well-recognized, long-standing public policy objectives associated with minimizing overall impacts to the environment and the public."


So what we have here and have always expected, Madam Chair, is that when it comes down to the question of whether Hydro One's interpretation of a policy of a government document is right or not is always going to be a matter of argument.  It is going to be the subject matter of debate.


If Mr. Ross' client or expert from Florida has a different view upon which the Ontario land use policy should be or how it should be interpreted, that's a fair point, and let him bring that opinion forward for your consideration and for ours.  But it doesn't go to the heart of this motion.


The heart of this motion is that there should be some requirement for Hydro One to provide its legal opinions that it has made, but clearly has not stated that it is relying upon for the relief sought in this application.


It's a baseless argument, Madam Chair, and I leave it at that.


With respect to the next interrogatory, I have that as Ross Interrogatory 2, Hydro One No. 9.1.  That interrogatory asked for the production of short circuit studies and load flow analysis, and the request was:

"Kindly provide the two above-noted studies."


And the response provided by Hydro One was:

"We have declined to respond to this interrogatory."


Again, based on the submission in the March 13th letter.


What we understand from Mr. Ross' submissions today is that the issue is not with the production of the load flow studies, because Mr. Ross has accepted a willingness on the part of the IESO to work with them on questions concerning load flow.  It is, therefore, the issue of whether the short circuit studies should be provided.


What we said in our March 13th, 2008 letter was to refer to Energy Probe 8, and in Energy Probe 8 we explained the information request concerning the disclosure of customer-specific information, which Hydro One and the OPA and the IESO are not allowed to disclose due to customer impact assessment terms and conditions, as well as the provisions of the Transmission System Code.


What is striking about this interrogatory, Madam Chair, is that short circuit studies aren't related to historical information, so even if you take the letter that has been filed by the Florida expert as being a reasonable basis for a request, even the Florida expert doesn't say he needs this information.  He has not specifically referred to the fact that short circuit studies are required in order for it to put together any form of evidence.


It is simply unclear to Hydro One, to the OPA, and to the IESO as to why short circuit studies relating to customer impact assessments -- that have been included in the customer impact assessments, and the results of those customer impact assessments have been tabled, have been put on the record in this proceeding -- why that level of detail is required.


Recall, Madam Chair, that what the evidence was relating to the customer impact assessment was that the results of short circuit and voltage performance study analysis confirmed that the new double circuit line can be incorporated without any adverse impacts on southwestern Ontario customers.  So it's not like the customer impact assessment has identified a problem.  Far from it.


It simply is not clear why this level of information is necessary.  It's a question of why this information is going to be relevant and material to the elements of price, quality and reliability of electricity service, which these facilities that have been applied for to meet a future need, are necessary.  Why is that information necessary?


That takes us, Madam Chair, to the next set of interrogatories, which I have entitled "inadequate responses".  I think there are two.


Interrogatory 3 was to Hydro One Networks Inc.  The request was pointed out by my friend, and related to the issue of providing a list of all government policies, regulations and statutes that were considered under the issue number 2, project alternatives, 2.2.


So tell us what government policies, regulations and statute have been considered.  And make reference to the section, paragraph, page or concept within the policy that was being employed in the screening and evaluation criteria.


So I want it down to a very basic, specific level of detail.


Well, Madam Chair, that really goes to the issue that you considered in the Union Gas case, which formed part of my materials in the Pollution Probe response submission.  I believe it is Appendix A of that submission.


It relates to the question of:  Is it reasonable for an intervenor to come in and request an applicant to effectively rearrange all of its affairs, in order for it to come down to a level of detail that is effectively asked for in this interrogatory?


The application that we have filed, Madam Chair, lives and dies based on how it has been presented.  The applicant, Hydro One, suffers the loss if we don't meet the onus of showing to you that the public interest is going to be served by these facilities and the justification for those facilities.


But asking a question that says:  I want to know specifically about how each piece of legislation, how each government policy, how each regulation to each particular statute has been applied and considered in the context of each of -- of your application, is beyond the pale.  It's unreasonable.


What Hydro One has attempted to do in responding to this question is it has indicated areas of its application where it has made reference to the government policies that it is intending to utilize in support of the evaluation criteria metric that's found and was discussed at the Technical Conference.


If we go to the reference found in the response of schedule 5, appendix 1, Exhibit B, tab 6, it's actually tab 6, schedule 5, page 1 of 1 where the table of contents lists all of the materials, appendix 1 through 13.  Appendix 1 through 13 describes all of the policies that are being discussed to, and goals and objectives that are being referred to.


We haven't taken the next step, obviously, of going through all of those materials and saying, specifically, which section of these policies are you relying on.  That just seems unreasonable.


As for statutes, Madam Chair, well, the updated evidence and the application itself have indicated the legislation which this application is being made under.  It's self-evident.


If we go to the next referral in the response, namely Board Staff interrogatory 1.2, a further dissemination and summary is provided.  There is discussion about meeting the IPSP targets.  There is discussion about procurement of renewable resources in Ontario.  There is discussion of initiating a standard offer program for the development of renewable energy in the province.  There's discussion of the execution of the Bruce A refurbishment contract.  All of those have cross-references for the reader.


It is simply beyond the pale to suggest that the response has been anything but sufficient, adequate, responsive to the request that has been made.


That takes me to the next and last of the interrogatories that Mr. Ross has raised in his motion, and that's the IESO interrogatory 6.


I suspect, Madam Chair, that Mr. Ross is right in thinking that there may be a bit of a communication failure, in terms of the question that Mr. Ross had intended to ask and the response that has been provided.


The important thing, as you well know, Madam Chair, is that the way in which responses to interrogatories get clarified is through the cross-examination process.  And so when Mr. Ross says to you: I was hoping for an answer that would have talked about, you know, ice storms or wind storms, to set out what the causes of contingency conditions would have been, the great news for Mr. Ross is he's going to have that opportunity.  He's going to have that opportunity in cross-examination.


But to suggest that there should be some iterative process in the interrogatory phase of this proceeding, again, goes to the Union Gas case.  That's not what this process has contemplated.  That is not a proper use, quite frankly, of this process.  It is part -- it is a question that can be asked and addressed through cross-examination, Madam Chair.


The answer that has been provided is responsive to the question, in Hydro One's submission.  It's reasonable.  It's reasonable to suggest that what the question was getting at were the causes of contingency conditions, broken insulator strings, contact in the ground, a conductor or conductors contacting a tower.  All of those are reasonable answers to the question that has been posed.  


At paragraph 39 of Mr. Ross's submission, it is clear what he was intending to ask and that was examples of what, in nature or technology, would cause such a contingency, and that is, again, simply not what the question has asked in the interrogatory.  But, again, I don't want to make a big deal out of this, because ultimately in the cross-examination process, Mr. Ross is going to have the opportunity.


What I am concerned about is the iterative process that Mr. Ross is seeking to achieve.


That takes me to the next issue that is common to both Mr. Ross and Mr. Fallis, and it related to a request that his clients understand who Hydro One's witnesses will be to be responsive to the questions.


Madam Chair, my practice, and I am glad to inform you that my client's practice, are aligned on this point.  There is no issue here.  The expectation my friend should have is that we will be filing a letter in advance of the hearing, in advance of the May 1 start date.  


We will do our best to make it a week before that date.  We will be filing a letter that indicates who our panel -- who our witness panels are comprised of and the responsibilities that each of those panels will have, in terms of the interrogatories that have been asked.  And it cuts both ways.


The intention of that letter is to ensure that all parties have, in advance, knowledge and understanding of which panels they should be directing their questions to so that there can be no confusion down the road of a party coming and saying, I wanted to ask this witness panel a question that it doesn't have responsibility for.


So that letter will be filed.  That has always been intention.  That has always been my practice, and if that is a deficiency of myself in respect of appearing before the Board, my apologies, and please let me know if I need to amend my practice accordingly.  But what I would suggest is that we file that letter a week before the hearing date.


That takes me to this curious part of Mr. Ross's motion, which, again, is one similar to and I guess supported by Mr. Fallis, about the term "drivers".  Who are the drivers behind the project?  It struck me, as we were having this discussion, of my affinity towards movie themes, and I couldn't help but think about the Wizard of Oz and who is behind the curtain here.


The reality here is that Hydro One is going to have and has made a determination that OPA and the IESO are going to be involved, have been involved and will be involved and will be appearing before you for the benefit of all parties to be tested and to be cross-examined on the evidence in this proceeding.


The evidence in this proceeding, obviously, that will be adopted by the witnesses is the application, as well as the responses to interrogatories.  My friends will know who and which witnesses to address their questions to in respect of the interrogatories.


The allegation, though, that my friend has made is that there is some filing requirement deficiency that the applicant, Hydro One, has made.  He has referred to the filing guidelines, the minimum filing requirements.  And in my respectful submission, that is an issue that we have long since past.  


He is effectively suggesting that our application is deficient by referring to such a document.  We have had that debate.  We have found that the application has satisfied the filing requirements, is in order, can proceed by way of having a hearing order set down and for a process to proceed to test and consider the application.


So the suggestion that the minimum filing requirements suddenly now crystallize and drive the need to have Bruce Power become part and parcel of the applicant's case and be treated, I guess, in a way, as being a co-applicant, is specious, at best.  We are past that point.  


Bruce Power is not a co-applicant.  Bruce Power is nothing similar to the OPA and the IESO's role in respect of this case.


My friend is, quite frankly, wrong when he says that this application is intended for the benefit, sole benefit, of Bruce Power.  It's not.


December 22nd, 2006, the OPA filed a letter that's formed part of this application record, part of the application, which showed for the first time the generation forecast.  The generation forecast clearly shows that there are both nuclear and wind components to this forecast.  It's not all about Bruce.  


Who says so?  Hydro One.  Who says so?  OPA.  And they are the parties that are going to appear before you to address those matters.


OPA is the party that has contracted for much of the generation power out of the Bruce, and, as I indicated in some of the other submissions and authorities that I filed, this idea of supply forecasts or generation forecasts in transmission-type applications, transmission facility applications, it's just simply the case that you look at that type of forecast on a macro level.  That's what supply forecasts or generation forecasts are intended to achieve, a macro level understanding of what supply is intended to be justifying the need for the facilities.


The cases that are referred to are National Energy Board decisions relating to crude oil pipelines, and in that analogous situation, the issue is:  Does the capacity -- the new capacity of a pipeline, is it demonstrated by supply, by crude oil supply?


Again, you get the hockey stick forecast of supply going out through the roof, and that is the demonstrated need.  And people can have different views about when the line is going to be flat or when it is going to have a great increase, but, ultimately, it is about prospective, future supply requirements.


Bruce Power, no doubt, is one party who is going to be benefitted by this project, if it gets approved, but that's not what the project is about.  The project is not strictly about Bruce Power.  It is about an overall forecast.  


Again, the author of that forecast is OPA.  The author of that forecast is OPA.  The author of that forecast is going to be sitting in the witness box for these parties to cross-examine and to have that forecast tested.

     With respect to Mr. Fallis. again, Madam Chair, at paragraph 11 of Mr. Fallis' part of the motion, Mr. Fallis referred to specific interrogatories.  We didn't hear from Mr. Fallis as to what the deficiencies were in respect of the individual interrogatories.  We simply don't know what the issue is.

     Now, based on the submissions that we heard, I get a theme or a sense that the issues relate to the production of historic generation data, and I am not going to repeat myself in respect of that.  I've said what I've said.  It is included in both my oral submissions and my written submissions.  I need not discuss it further.

     That is sort of the first group of concerns that Mr. Fallis has raised about production about information that Hydro One doesn't have.  I quite frankly don't know what more we can do, other than to say we don't have the data.  It's not relevant, because we're not here to understand how the system worked in 1985.

     The second group of, I guess, interrogatory responses that Mr. Fallis referred to, at least implicitly, related to answers that had been provided that were not helpful or that were, in some way, inconsistent with what had been provided.

     Again, he referred to the nature of the response that was provided in 1.3 to the Board Staff, versus the responses that he received.

     There is an important difference, Madam Chair, that when you ask a question that says:  Have you done any analysis?  And if so, can you describe it?  You get an answer that is responsive to that type of question.  If you ask a question that says:  Please tell me about the starting and ending points of the transmission-line used to provide service to the Douglas Point nuclear reactor, and you get a response that says:  Please refer to table X, and in table X you have to actually look for, but the data is there, both are equally responsive questions.

The latter question is asking for a very specific piece of data: starting and ending points.

     What Hydro One attempted to do, in respect of the table that was filed as attachment 1 to Fallis IR 6, was it attempted to summarize and put in one central location a considerable amount of data that was thought to be useful and be responsive to much of the questions that had been asked by Mr. Fallis.  In-service dates, length of transmission-lines, firm capacity statistics, capabilities of the line, average loading and maximum loading as of 2007, were all provided.  

     I don't know how Mr. Fallis can say that the question, for example question 7, which is on his list, that says:

"What was the maximum transmission capacity expressed in megawatt hours --"

Don't know quite how that works, but in any event, assume that is in error.  But:

"-- expressed in megawatt hours of each of 

those transmission-lines that transmitted the electrical power generated from the Douglas Point reactor during its commissioned years of electrical power generation -–"

     And how a referral to that table can be seen as anything but helpful.  But that wasn't all.  This is like the Ginsu knife.  That's not all folks, there's more.

     We went on to say to take a look at response to Fallis 101 E, where there was a comprehensive discussion provided about the differences between transmission capacity and transmission capability.

Why did we do that?  Because one of the common themes that we were concerned with, with many of the questions that Mr. Fallis asked, was that there seemed to be a belief that capability and capacity were synonymous terms.

     Now, Mr. Fallis' clients may very well take the view that they are.  We look forward to seeing that evidence.  He may not like the responses that we've provided or the discussion that we've provided that describes why you can't arithmetically simply add up capacity numbers, but that's the position of the applicant.

     A motion to compel better responses to information requests on the basis that you don't like the answer is no motion at all.  At least, it is not a motion that should be listened to, in my respectful submission.

     Mr. Fallis has the evidence.  If he wishes to cross-examine our experts or our witnesses on it, that process and time is coming.  Let's hope sooner rather than later.

     Madam Chair, with respect to Mr. Pappas, I am not sure that I need to respond.  I don't, quite frankly, have any remarks prepared for Mr. Pappas.  I would just simply note that I struggled to see the submissions supporting or opposing the motion.

     I think Mr. Pappas obviously has convictions that he wishes to raise, and concerns that he has in respect of the application that is before this Board.  Hydro One has certainly tried their best to be responsive to the questions that Mr. Pappas has asked.  It is clear that Mr. Pappas does not take a view that is shared by Hydro One or the applicant, and I fully anticipate, as does my client, that Mr. Pappas will be active to have the concerns that he wishes to raise with the experts.  Not the lawyers, but the actual experts.  And to have those positions tested vis-à-vis the position that is the basis of the application.

       My client is just indicating that with respect to Mr. Fallis' list of interrogatories, we just wanted to make sure that the list that he has provided, that he hasn't explained in any level of detail about what the problem is, but when we look at that list, in the second category of the answers appear to be quite responsive, like number 7, we see many, many of the responses there to be of the same ilk, that responses have been provided that are responsive to the questions that have been posed.

     Mr. Fallis has not provided any insight as to why any of those responses are inadequate, such as his friend, 

Mr. Ross has done.  And it would obviously be entirely inappropriate for Mr. Fallis to do that in response.

     So subject to those submissions, Madam Chair, or any questions that you have, those are my submissions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, I think you were going to address Pollution Probe's interrogatories, as well.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Oh, thank you, sorry.

     Right.  In terms of specific issues --

     MR. ROSS:  Sorry, Mr. Nettleton, I apologize.  I am just seeking a matter of clarification.  Was the motion from Pollution Probe withdrawn or was there --


MS. NOWINA:  It was.


MR. ROSS:  So there is no motion for Pollution Probe before the Board?


MS. NOWINA:  No.  The Board is interested in the responses in any case.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, based on the earlier submissions that you made at the outset of this, of my submissions, I understood that the Board has concerns about the specific interrogatory responses that Hydro One has made to Pollution Probe, and I believe we have addressed them all in these written submissions.


So if I could take you there, we could perhaps go through them together.  Starting at page 6, paragraph 18 of my submissions is where we get into the specifics.


We have attempted to group these responses in a manner that treats the issues the same.  So with respect to Interrogatories 9, 10 and 11, what we understood was that these interrogatories related to requests for the breaking out or greater detailed information concerning the net present value calculations respecting locked-in energy.


And the issue, as I understand it, in respect of that level of break-out or breakdown is that it does reveal information that becomes commercially sensitive.  And that takes us back to the point that is made elsewhere in this document, Madam Chair, regarding market-sensitive information and the fact that the marketplace, as it now is evolving into a deregulated market, is one that should be of some concern to the Board, which is to say that there should be some level of concern about detailed commercially-sensitive information being produced for ulterior purposes or that could be used for ulterior purposes.


What we have tried to do in this case, and with respect to the locked-in energy calculations that have been provided, is we have attempted to provide a very fulsome response to Pollution Probe Interrogatory 47, and I think you will recall, in that case, Madam Chair -- or in that response, I think it went on for some nine pages.  It described, in great detail, how the locked-in energy forecast calculations were put together.


There was discussion in that interrogatory response relating to the transmission -- sorry, the generation, the probabilistic distribution for generation, the probabilistic distribution for both wind and total generation, and also transmission usage.


What we were attempting to do in that response is provide the Board and all parties with a level of understanding of the significant and complex level of detail that has gone into the locked-in energy forecast calculations.


It certainly tested my understanding when I tried to read this with my clients and get the gist of it.  It's complicated stuff.  But what I understand, also, from my clients is that the importance with the locked-in energy calculations and the net present value calculations is that all of the assumptions have been applied across the board in a similar fashion.  


There haven't been adjustments made to the underlying methodology; that they have been applied in the same way.  The only changes that have occurred have been in relation to the alternative that has been under consideration, and that has driven the differences in the results in the overall calculation of locked-in energy.


What we can't understand, Madam Chair, is by the disclosure of the level of detail and level of information that has been requested, again, how that becomes relevant and material to the inquiry at hand.


What we have indicated in this submission earlier is that Hydro One is not seeking approval from the Board of its locked-in energy forecast calculation.  That's not the relief that's before you.  In order to get leave of the Board to construct and operate facilities, clearly we have to demonstrate that it's in the public interest.  But the relief that we're seeking is not approval of the locked-in energy forecast calculation that has been made.


Now, there is a correction to paragraph 18.  There is a typo and it's -- we have referred to Pollution Probe 47, and what was intended to be Board Staff Interrogatories 4 and 3.4 or -- sorry.  It is just 3.4, Board Staff Interrogatory 3.4.


In my respectful submissions, Madam Chair, if you look at the level of detail that has been provided in the answer to Pollution Probe Interrogatory 47, it goes a long way to explain how the locked-in energy forecast has been comprised, has been put together.  And I think, given that response, there is a real question of whether there is any further need for any more detail that would clearly cause the disclosure of commercially-sensitive information.


Let me move on to Interrogatories 19(a) and (d).  The concern that we had with these interrogatories, Madam Chair, related, again, to the question of:  What is the nature of the applied-for relief in this case?  And what we are -- what the interrogatories are seeking is information respecting specific generation facilities - namely, the Bruce - and to provide year-by-year breakdowns and disclosure of information relating to, in the future, whether units are going to be refurbished and whether new nuclear resources would be added, and where.


It was also related to -- part D related to a copy of electronic data filed in an Excel spreadsheet.


Again, it goes to the nature of the relief that's being sought here, Madam Chair.  This project is intended for an overall generation forecast.


What the questions are going to is related to specific information related to specific facilities in the future.  OPA has indicated that they have a concern about that type of disclosure.  It's clearly one that is perhaps best described by Mr. Rattray, but my understanding -- sorry, or by Mr. Zacher, but, again, my understanding, is that it would potentially abrogate obligations made between OPA and Bruce Power and OPG.  Mr. Penny might have a few words on that, too. But the point he --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to interrupt you for a moment, Mr. Nettleton, so I can make sure I understand.  You have previously said, have you not, that Hydro One accepts that it is open to parties to challenge the generation forecast; is that correct?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Do you see any inconsistency is in saying that on the one hand, but saying when people want to ask about the details of that, that has gone too far?


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the nature of the forecast has to be considered, and the nature of the forecast is one at a macro level.  It shows not just nuclear, but it shows wind as well.


So testing the veracity of the forecast, I guess, raises the question of timing, sure.  I mean, and I think we've gone a long way in the responses to explain how the lines of the forecast look and what's explaining those lines.


And that was really provided in Energy Probe Interrogatory 21, where we attempted to explain further how that forecast and what gives rise to those changes.  What we are trying do here is provide some sense of balance.  And I think it is fair to say, for example, as we did in interrogatory 21, we said, when there was a decline in forecast, that it was explained by units being expected to be refurbished.  We said that.


But the question is:  Do you need to go to the next level?  The forecast is at a higher level.  Do you need to go down to a lower level than that?


With respect to interrogatory 42, it was a response that related to, or an interrogatory that related to wide-sweeping disclosure of generation data across southwestern Ontario.  And the type of data that we submit is being asked is, and relates to, you know, upstream costs, operating costs, data relating to generation.  As the transmission facility, that's not what we're seeking approval of in this application.


It takes me to a bit of an analogy, where we're the truck driver.  The oranges on the back of the truck and how they get produced and the costs of producing those oranges is not why we're here.  It doesn't relate to the truck.  We want to make sure that the truck is big enough for all of the oranges.  It's our obligation to demonstrate to you the approval of the truck, that we've got a big enough truck for the oranges.  The forecast for the oranges in this case is what has been filed.


But getting into the level of detail of finding out what the incremental costs and what the individual producer costs are for oranges simply just does not relate to the application and the applied-for relief, and we submit, is not relevant or material to the relief that has been applied for in this application.


With respect to interrogatories 47(a), 49(d), 50(a) and 51(a), the common theme here is the disclosure of spreadsheets and work papers underlying the analysis.


Again, the concern is stated to be commercially sensitive information.  It also, though, Madam Chair, with all respect, does relate to a question of reasonableness and need for this level of disclosure and for what purpose is this disclosure being sought.


Is that type of information going to be helpful to the Board in its assessment of this application?


The applicant does bear the onus here.  We do put at risk the fact that the Board could come back, through the good cross-examination undertaken by our friends, to say --and arguments made by our friends, that the evidence that is before you is insufficient to demonstrate that the public interest would best be served by approval of this application.


We are the authors of our own misfortune if we don't put all of the information that has been requested, like spreadsheets and work papers, before you.  But quite frankly, we don't see how that would be a reasonable request.  What we are trying to do is provide some semblance, some understanding of the evidence that is being relied upon, and that's what is before you in the application.


I think lastly, Madam Chair, that takes us to interrogatories 50 and 51(a), and this relates to, I guess, work papers and the calculation of costs of expanding the BSPS and employing series capacitors.


There has been information filed in that regard.  We did file the net present value of costs of alternatives, of project alternatives.  We had to, in light of the issues list.  Evidence has been filed in that regard.  And that includes the locked-in energy net present value costs, and as it relates to each of the alternatives.


But going to a lower level than that, whereupon we have to disclose specific data and worksheets and formulas intact and used in competing the values of the tables, again, the common theme here has been that we've used the same analysis across all of the alternatives.  It's not like different models have been used for examining each of the alternatives.


I am happy to report my client says I can stop.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

Procedural matters:


MS. NOWINA:  I am going to do a time check here.  The Panel cannot stay any later than 5:30 at the outside, so I would like to get an estimate of time for the parties who want to make submissions in response, or in support of Hydro One and then the reply submissions from Mr. Ross and Mr. Fallis.


So hands up, parties who plan to make submissions in support of Hydro One.  Mr. Vegh, how long do you think you will be?


MR. VEGH:  Say 15 to 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Mr. Zacher?


MR. ZACHER:  Five to ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Mr. Rattray?


MR. RATTRAY:  Five to ten minutes, thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Five minutes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Less than five minutes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson.  My math tells me that is 40 minutes.  That will take us to five o'clock, gentlemen.  Can you conclude in less than half an hour?


MR. FALLIS:  Absolutely.


MR. PAPPAS:  I could rattle it off.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, I don't think we will go back to you.  You don't have a motion here, so you don't have the opportunity for reply.


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, he did refer to my submissions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Pappas, could you turn your mic on?


MR. PAPPAS:  My submission was referred to, and I just have a few short comments.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Pappas, but I think not.  You don't have an opportunity to reply.  You had your submission.


All right.  With that, does everyone want to soldier on and finish today?  Mr. Vegh.

Submissions by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  By way of housecleaning, I just want to refer to the materials I will be using.  I will be referring to the motion record of Ross and Fallis, the motion record of Pollution Probe and the motion record of Hydro One.


I will be addressing four points.  First is the order requested against Bruce Power by Fallis.  Second is to address the -- and the issue there will be the relevance of that information, and I will address the issue of relevance.  


Third, I want to briefly comment on this concept of a driver, and, fourth, I wanted to comment on Pollution Probe questions 9, 10 and 11 and perhaps provide either a clarification or a bit more of a specific response than Mr. Nettleton did on the information requested and what was provided.


So I want to deal with, first, the information -- or the order requested against Bruce by the Fallis group, and I want to do that specifically because, frankly, from the submissions earlier today, it wasn't entirely clear to me what was specifically required of Bruce.


So I went back to the motion record to identify specifically what the Board is being ordered to do with Bruce, and to just go through that quickly, the Ross firm group hasn't asked for any order against Bruce, though Mr. Ross made submissions.


The Fallis group seeks an order against Bruce.  The first is at paragraph 14 of the Fallis group motion record.  It essentially asks that Bruce be required to answer 120 interrogatories that were provided in accordance with Procedural Order No. 5.  So I think the vast majority of these were given to Hydro One.  


Fallis group, as you know, didn't like many of those answers, so they gave them over to Bruce.  But it is a long list of 120 questions, and that is referred to in paragraph 14.  I will be submitting that is just too broad an expedition.


The specific area where the Fallis group seems to be identifying missing information that should be provided by Bruce is identified in paragraph 18 of its motion record.  Again, this is extremely broad.  It is asking the Board to grant a summons requiring Bruce to provide additional historical information and records regarding the Bruce plants about all generation activities conducted at the Bruce plants.


So, again, that is extremely broad.  I think that is an inappropriate request, but what I would like to do is just go through, in terms of historical information at the Bruce plant, which is something obviously that my client is most concerned about.  I would like to just take you to what has already been provided and what is the gap that's claimed, and then address the relevance of that gap.


So I would like to bring it down a level from a more principled argument, but down at the specific information that is being looked for.  The specific information that has already been provided is in the Pollution Probe materials, and it's at page 27.  I would like to take you to it, if I could.


This information is provided in response to Pollution Probe Interrogatory No. 1, so it's at page 27.  If you have it, I would like to point to it.


So it is Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1.  It's at page 27 of the Pollution Probe materials, and that's what I am looking at.


You see here, in this table, the production and the capacity factor of the Bruce A and the Bruce B facilities going back to May 2002.  What you see is that the Bruce -- the Bruce B facilities have monthly production.  The Bruce A facilities have production starting in November 2003.  That's when those facilities were brought into service.


This schedule starts in May 2005.  And just by way of background, Bruce Power took over the operations of the Bruce B facilities in May 2001.  So, I'm sorry, this starts May 2002.  Bruce had run the facilities from May 2001.


So when you look at what's kind of missing from the historical information as it relates to Bruce's operations, is for the 12-month period prior to May 2002.  The Bruce -- so what that gap looks like is, on the Bruce A facilities, it's just a continuation of this blank that's in the table, because these facilities have been out of service -- the Bruce 3 and 4 I think had been out of service since 1996, or at least since the late '90s.  


So there is no further information on production from the Bruce A facilities while Bruce was the plant operator.  Those facilities were down for refurbishment.


For Bruce B you would see another 12 entries, 12-month entries from what's being provided here.


So that's some context, in terms of what -- you know, what happened during Bruce's operation of the facilities.  If you were to order Bruce to provide further information during its operations, what you would get is another 12 months of entries for Bruce B.  There is no more information on Bruce A, because Bruce A was out of service by the time Bruce took over operations.


So the question is, in terms of ordering production:  What is the relevance of 12 months' more information from the -- on the operation of the Bruce B plant?


Given the time constraints, I won't take you to it, but there is very good discussion of relevance when it comes to issuing a summons in the MacAulay book that is quoted from in Hydro One's motion record.  It's at page 12-90.  It's a quotation from the MacAulay book.  Of course MacAulay was a former chair of this Board, and it is a quotation from George Adams, a well-respected chair of the Labour Board, who talks about the limits of when it is appropriate to issue a summons.


I say that because it talks about, you know, the need for really demonstrating relevance.  The reason I say that is, you know, there is some judgment involved here.  When the Board orders -- when the Board determines something is relevant for the purposes of answering questions, it is appropriate to look at different contexts, I think.  


It is not just a matter of someone undergoing the cross-examination and the question is, you know, this next incremental question:  Is it really relevant?


He makes the point it is a much higher test when you are talking about summonsing -- issuing a summons or a subpoena against someone.  So I would ask that you -- when you consider the relevance of this 12-month production data out of Bruce B, apply a high test of relevance and ask:  Well, does the Board really need this information to make a determination on whether or not the transmission-line should be built?  


I have three reasons why it is, in my submission, you do not require this information.  The first is that it seems that the basic theory is that what the -- what Fallis group and Ross group want to investigate is:  How did this plant operate when all eight units were in place?  


Well, Bruce Power never operated all eight units, so during Bruce Power's operation going from May 1, 2000 -- May 2001 to May 2002, they never operated all eight units.  So I haven't seen any theory under which further information on how Bruce B operated on its own -- that Bruce B units operated on its own for that period is at all relevant to any theory of this case.


So that's the first point.


The second point is, even if you take a theory of this case which says that past performance is an indicator of future performance, so under that model, I mean, obviously Bruce wasn't operating, but even if you go further back to when all eight facilities were operating, you have to ask yourself, Well, is past performance in this instance any reasonable or even logical indicator of future performance?


Mr. Ross read to you earlier an excerpt from Mr. Gibbons' affidavit, who basically makes the assertion that it is.  But what you would be looking at, from past performance, is pre-refurbished past performance of the Bruce A facilities, and the question is:  What does the performance of a pre-refurbished facility tell you about the performance of the facility after its refurbished?


In my submission, it doesn't tell you anything.  That's like trying to determine the performance of whether or not you fixed your leaky roof by looking at how it worked before you fixed the leak.


Also, there is nothing in that assumption or nothing in that argument that even goes to any of the OPA's theory.  The OPA's theory on the future performance, the forecast of energy, is not based at all on how these plants operated prior to refurbishment.  It is irrelevant.


So it is not like you're testing someone's assertion or their assumptions.  The evidence, as far as I am aware, has no assertions or assumptions on how these plants operated going back prior to 1996, prior to taking these facilities out of service.


The next theory that is put forward on why it is you would want to look at how these eight plants operated together is -- and this was put forward by Mr. Fallis -- he says he wants to know the answer to a question.  And the question seems, to me, a logical question, which is that:  If at one point the transmission system was capable of carrying the power from all eight plants, all eight facilities, why is it now not capable of carrying the power from all eight facilities?  I think that is a good question, and I think that is a question that I am sure the Board would be investigating, as this case goes on.  In fact, interrogatory 1.3, the Board Staff asked that question; OPA answered that question.


There seems to be some complaint by Mr. Fallis that the OPA gave a better answer to this question than to other questions.  I am not sure.  Perhaps it is just they asked a better question.


If that is the question, that is the question is:  How come it was able to operate, to carry power from eight facilities, and now only capable of carrying power from six?  That is a fair question and I am sure Hydro One and the OPA will have to explain that.  I think they have given evidence on that and that will be tested on the theory.  


But that has nothing to do with all eight -- all, with the performance of those eight facilities.  If you take as an assumption that all eight facilities operated at high capacity at one level, at one time, and the transmission system was capable, then you have to answer the question of why is it now not capable of answering all eight.


But again, you don't have to dig back through historical performance, going back to the early '90s, to ask that question.  In fact, that question has been asked and I think it will be challenged.  So that issue will be addressed.


Again, my point is that it is inappropriate to summons Bruce Power to come forward and give information on these points that are really not going to be that relevant to the issues that you have to decide.


I would like to touch on this – so that's why I say it is irrelevant.  I would like to turn now to the question of the drivers.


MS. NOWINA:  Before you go there, Mr. Vegh, can I just ask you a question of clarification?  Putting aside your discussion of relevance, you started your discussion by referring to the table that Bruce Power had -- that the OPA -– or that Hydro One had provided, I guess.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And said that Bruce Power could only provide another year of data, in any case.  Or is that what you're saying, that Bruce Power could only provide another year of data to take it to the year that Bruce Power began operating the plants?


MR. VEGH:  I don't know what kind of historical data Bruce has.  I'm saying that if you summons Bruce to address the period of their operations of the plant --


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. VEGH:  -- then this is all they could provide, is another year.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Further on that, Madam Chair, just to be clear, Mr. Vegh, that you are not suggesting whether or not Bruce Power is the custodian of that historic information, whether there is something in the lease agreement that goes to the custodial keep of that archived data, to be transferred back to OPG or to the province at the end of the lease?


MR. VEGH:  Well, I don't know the answer to that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  But my point is really on the relevance.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  This gets to the drivers point.  I mean, if the Board determines that the issue is relevant and the Board directs Bruce to provide information, it will provide the information that it can.


So, as I said at the outset this morning, Bruce is not challenging the Board's jurisdiction to order it to produce information.  I think if you ordered Bruce to produce information, we would go back and see what is the information that it had to provide.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It would have been helpful if we knew what information we were likely to get with that summons.  If it is 12 months, that is one question.  If it is the archived data, that is something else, and that would go to whether or Bruce Power is the custodian of that information.


MR. VEGH:  Again, that is fair.  What I am responding to is a specific request, which is that, you know, Bruce as well as others provide all information respecting the production of energy from the plants.


So I guess what you are asking for is a more refined version of the notice that is being provided to me.


So what is being provided is this generic request that Bruce, OPG and others provide all of this information and I am saying -- and this is not just providing the information.  The motion asked for a summons, that you bring Bruce in here to give evidence.  And I am just saying the reality is Bruce has been there, you know, for that one-year period, has never operated Bruce A, is not going to have any obviously first-hand information on any of that.  I don't know what sort of historical data exists at the facility or within Bruce's possession.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. VEGH:  My main point of course is that the test is relevance, and I don't think they made out their case for relevance.


I'm segueing a bit now to the point on the drivers.  Just by how these rules work, as I understand them, the Board doesn't declare drivers.  The duty is on the applicant to make their case and get the information from wherever they can, and obviously I won't repeat what Mr. Nettleton said about how Hydro One has gotten information from OPA and IESO.


I would say that it is inappropriate for an approach which says that you identify who a driver is, and then you can start sort of issuing summonses, issuing orders for parties to produce materials, just because they have met some designated driver test.


It is still a summons, and you still have to meet the point of relevance and it is it still an extraordinary power.


I will just go on, because I would like to address Pollution Probe 9, 10 and 11, and keep to my timeframe.


I will only address that question insofar as it relates to confidential information from Bruce Power and how it relates to this case in particular.


The confidential information questions relate to the scheduled refurbishment of the specific units.  I just want to set this up a bit, because it is important to be clear on what exactly, again, what exactly is the information that the parties have and what is the gap.  Then you have to ask yourself:  Well, is this gap really relevant enough for us to go to the next step of ordering the production of that information?


I won't ask you to turn it up, but I will read it to you.  The evidence put forward by Hydro One in this application is about the start point and the end point of additional refurbishments at the facility.  It starts in 2009; it ends in 2013.


I will just read it to you, how it is expressed.  It says:  "In 2009" -- I am reading from Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, so it is the upfront part of the application:

"In 2009 Bruce Power is expect to return to service two 750 megawatt units at Bruce A that are currently being refurbished under contract with the OPA.  At the same time, Bruce Power will be removing one, and later, one additional of the operating 750 megawatt units from Bruce A plant for refurbishment, and by 2013, the refurbishment work of these units will be completed and the total committed generation in the Bruce area will increase to 7100 megawatts."


So what they're saying is from 2009 until 2013, there will be the removal of two units, and then they will be brought back into service.  So it's within that four-year period.


When you look throughout the evidence, what the OPA does is provide this evidence on that four-year period, but doesn't provide a month-by-month break down or a unit-by-unit break down.  And that's the information that is confidential.


So it is a specific month-by-month and unit-by-unit schedule.  We know it starts in 2009.  We know it ends in 2013.  And it is that granularity of information that I submit is irrelevant.


I will give you the reference.  I won't read it to you, but the reference where OPA makes the claim for -- or identifies what is the confidential information, is in its letter to the Board Secretary of March 6th, this year, which is at page 48 of the Pollution Probe materials.


So the only thing that is not provided is a month-by-month, unit-by-unit breakdown.  Then throughout the evidence, you see the information provided on an aggregated basis for all nuclear generation out of the facilities, and on an annual basis.


It is my submission that that level of information is sufficient and the level of granularity, as I say, is irrelevant.


The flaw of the motion brought by Pollution Probe with respect to the disclosure of that evidence for questions 9, 10 and 11 was that there was no demonstration, at all, how it is that the month-by-month and unit-by-unit information is relevant.  I won't take you to it.  The only evidence on that is a paragraph 20 from Mr. Gibbons, where he says kind of, you know, the very catch-all phrase, I want to test someone's assumptions.


I will leave it to you to go back and look at that evidence and look at what is being withheld on the basis of confidentiality, and leave it to you to determine whether that's relevant.  I submit it isn't, because what -- again, the OPA is forecasting post 2013 production.  And it doesn't matter what month these units come in and out of service prior to 2013.  We are looking at post 2013.  That is the relevant time period, not month by month and not unit by unit.


Thank you.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Mr. Zacher.


MR. ZACHER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Zacher, just before you start, can Staff get the blinds closed?  Thank you.  Sorry, I am starting to melt.  Oh, there you go.


In the meantime, you can proceed, Mr. Zacher, because our wonderful technology sometimes takes time, but not in this case.  Mr. Millar is an expert, obviously.

Submissions by Mr. Zacher:


MR. ZACHER:  Thank you very much.  I will try and be brief, and I really just want to reinforce two points made by Mr. Nettleton and Mr. Vegh, one with respect to Mr. Nettleton's point that generally this historic generation data is not relevant.  I just want to address that specifically from the OPA's perspective, because, as Mr. Nettleton indicated, the need for transmission in the Bruce area is driven by a forecast from the OPA.


That forecast is of future installed capacity in the Bruce area, and that forecast was not based on and it was not adjusted by reference to pre-refurbishment nuclear unit performance data.


It is clear from the Fallis group and the Ross group's questions that they think the planning, transmission planning, ought to have taken that into account.


Just to be clear, there is nothing that prevents either the Fallis group or the Ross group from advancing that through evidence and through cross-examination of witnesses, OPA witnesses, on witness panels.  They can do that.  That's a fair question to ask, but it doesn't necessitate that the actual pre-refurbishment performance data be produced.


It is not necessary to have that data produced so that assumptions can be tested, because it is not an assumption, as Mr. Vegh said, that actually went into the OPA forecast.


The second point I just want to make, and this is with respect to the questions relating to locked-in energy values and the confidential information.


The questions there were with respect to the locked-in energy values under various scenarios and to provide those values with respect to both OPA, Hydro One discount rates and to provide the OPA's discounted cash flow model.


In fact, virtually all of that information was provided.  So the values under the four or five scenarios requested were provided.  There were charts provided that provided that information both pursuant to the OPA and to the Hydro One discount rates, and the OPA discounted cash flow model was also provided.


The only information that was not included was the specific information in the model that identified the specific months when the Bruce units went out, and came back, in the 2009/2010 period, and then when the Bruce 3 and 4 units came back in the 2012 to 2013 period.


The information that has been provided clearly shows that they would come back within those years.  It just simply is not broken down by month to month, and that's because it is sensitive commercial information and there is no reason why, for the purposes of this application, that you would require that level of granularity.  


As I indicated, the large -- largely, the information that has been requested has been provided.


Subject to any questions you have, those are my brief submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Mr. Rattray.

Submissions by Mr. Rattray:


MR. RATTRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.


I am going to borrow a comment that was made by Mr. Stephenson at one of the earlier procedural motions, and that was the important point that the Board has a long history of dealing with large, complex applications of this of the sort that is before you today and that there is nothing inherently unique about today's application and the motions before you that would justify a departure from the Board's established practice and procedure as to how it deals with interrogatories and requests for disclosure.


Now, the starting point for an interrogatory, as noted by Mr. Nettleton, is that it should be both relevant and material.  I want to briefly deal with the notion of materiality, because, as set out in Rule 29.02(b), there is recognition in the Board's Rules that there is a balancing process that must be undertaken.


You balance the claim of relevance and materiality with the effort that is required to respond to such requests, because the end objective here is not to proceed down a road of interminable interrogatory requests and answers and follow-up interrogatories and further responses, but, rather, to achieve a just, expeditious and efficient determination on the merits.


So your task is to engage in that balancing process.


And this test, as is set out, or the standard is set out in the case law that Mr. Nettleton referred you to and was attached to Hydro One's submissions, and, in particular, the Union Gas case.  If it is relevant and material, you are entitled to a reasonable answer, not a perfect answer, to a question that you might have asked in the first instance or to a follow-up interrogatory question.


Those principles apply to Interrogatory No. 6.  Mr. Ross would, I suggest, lead you to the conclusion that the answer provided -- I am not going to take you to that specific interrogatory and the answer.  You have been given the reference in Hydro One's materials as Exhibit C, tab 10, schedule 6, but the question was asked and a reasonable appropriate answer to that question was provided.


So I am simply saying the question was asked.  An answer was provided.  Now is not the time to embark on a multi-stage interrogatory process.  They will have their opportunity to ask questions, should they wish to do so, at the oral hearing.


Turning now to the request of Mr. Fallis that each of Bruce Power, the OPA and the IESO provide separate answers to voluminous interrogatories.  For the reasons that have been set out by Mr. Nettleton and Mr. Vegh, it is neither necessary nor efficient to embark on that process.


There is no surprise here that in accordance with the filing guidelines to which Mr. Ross has referred you, and appended to his materials, the IESO has worked with and continues to work with the applicant, Hydro One, with respect to the preparation of the evidence and interrogatory answers, as appropriate.  These answers have now been provided to the various intervenors.


The request appears to be directly related to this issue of drivers, and, in my submission, it's a plain misinterpretation of the intent of the filing guidelines to seek a declaration that an entity is a driver, and then, having done that, to somehow use it as a bootstrap to expand what is otherwise permissible under existing rules for interrogatories.


The applicant, Hydro One, clearly has the obligation to bring its case forward and has committed to doing so at the hearing.


Mr. Ross today candidly acknowledged that his purpose in seeking the declaration is to, "ease the information request."   He's seeking to broaden and expand the interrogatory process.


In our submission, the moving parties have not established that there is a need to fundamentally change the Board's existing practices and procedures with respect to interrogatories.


Interrogatories, after all, are not a substitute for the hearing, at which Mr. Ross, Mr. Fallis, and the other intervenors will have the opportunity to ask questions and challenge, through cross-examination, witnesses presented by the applicant.


I think we have to bear in mind that the recurrent theme of the numerous procedural motions that have taken place in this proceeding all seem to boil down to requests to extend the timetable that the Board has established, with the practical effect of delaying the hearing of this matter.


I think it would be inappropriate to grant indirectly the relief which the Board specifically denied in Procedural Order No. 5, in establishing the current schedule.  For those reasons, the IESO wholeheartedly supports Hydro One's submissions in opposition to the request to extend the timetable and delay the hearing.


Thank you.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rattray.  Mr. Penny.

Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  It is Ontario Power Generation's submission that the third-party production order and subpoena requests of the moving parties are, in the present circumstances, ill-conceived, and at the very least premature.


I say they're ill-conceived for two reasons.  One has to do with the issue of relevance, and the second is that, in order to get that form of extraordinary relief, the moving party has to show, first, that the information cannot be obtained from the applicant.


With respect to the relevance issue, I will simply say that we rely upon the submissions of Mr. Nettleton, both written and oral.


As I apprehend the issue, the landowners are saying they want to explore whether, if the transmission system could handle eight units before, why can't it handle six in the future?  As I hear Mr. Nettleton's submission, they admit that the transmission system could handle eight before.  The issue isn't whether it could handle eight before.  The issue is why it can't handle six in the future.  That's the issue that has been joined.  And you don't need this historical data for something that isn't in dispute.


So we essentially adopt Mr. Nettleton's submission on that.  I do want to say parenthetically, however, Madam Chair, in a perhaps more spirited defence of the principle of solicitor-client privilege, that we submit to you as a matter of principle that the Board is bound by the law of solicitor-client privilege.  The Statutory Powers Procedure Act enables you to depart from the rules of evidence, generally speaking, but specifically requires adherence to the law of privilege.


And with respect to the specific submission that has been made to you by Mr. Ross, in my submission, the proposition that was put to you was that if a client relies on the advice, that they have waived privilege.  With respect, that is an incorrect and preposterous submission, in my submission, because if it were true that when a client relies upon a lawyer's advice, solicitor-client privilege were waived, then in most cases -- unless clients habitually do not follow their lawyer's advice -- there would be no such thing as solicitor-client privilege.


So in my submission, both the case that my friend relies upon doesn't stand for that proposition, and the proposition is, on its face, preposterous.


With respect to the second aspect of my submission -- that is, that as a matter of process my friends need to establish the relevance -- they need to establish that Hydro One, on proper enquiry, cannot get the information and then and only then should they be turning to third parties, let me just say briefly that OPG is an intervenor in this proceeding.  That's fair enough, but we intervened purely for the purposes of monitoring the proceeding.  General interest, if you will.


We have no direct interest in the project.  We're not a driver of the project.  We filed no evidence.  We have attended none of these proceedings.  We are not subject to any procedural order for interrogatories, and in my submission, it is completely inappropriate for the landowners, at this stage, to bring a motion before there is any evidence that Hydro One, on proper enquiry -- if the information is found by the Board to be relevant, and that's the main issue before you today, of course -- is unable to obtain that information from third parties, whoever they may be.


I say that it is inappropriate because neither the Procedural Order No. 5 nor the filing guidelines contemplate third party discovery.  The applicant here has the burden, as Mr. Nettleton has said.  If necessary, they must seek information from the beneficiary or the "driver" of the project.  But that is for the applicant.  That is the applicant's burden.


So the first line is to ask the applicant, the second line, perhaps, is the customer or beneficiary of the project pursuant to the guidelines.  But then and only then, if the information cannot be obtained, is it appropriate for the landowners to seek production directly from third parties.


Mr. Ross conceded that in his submissions, because he said:  If Hydro One is unwilling or unable to obtain the information.  Well, we're not there yet.  There has been no determination of relevance.  And we don't know what enquiries Hydro One may make, if it is ordered to make reasonable enquiries by this Board, because the Board decides that the information is relevant.


So in my submission, the request specifically sought against OPG is premature, and of course rests on this question initially of relevance, and then, subsequently, on the question of what information Hydro One may be entitled or able to obtain, if the Board determines that that information is relevant.


So it is for those reasons that, in my submission, the motion is ill conceived and premature and should be, as against my client, OPG, dismissed.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson.

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just very briefly.


On hearing the submissions, firstly I want to adopt the submissions of Mr. Nettleton and the others that preceded me for the reasons given by them.


On behalf of the Power Workers' Union, we think the motion should be dismissed.


The one point I really want to address is to address any impression that might exist -- which naturally may arise in circumstances like this -- where the focus, because of the nature of the motions, is on what has not been answered, and what has not been produced.


I want to address any sort of impression that there might be that Hydro One has been recalcitrant or obstructionist in responding to the many, many, many, interrogatories that they have received.


Nothing could be further than the truth.  We have received, unfortunately, all of these responses.  They're massive.  They take up my office.


So this is not a case where there has been any reluctance to provide relevant information.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I blame Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, I thought I was only operating my microphone.  It appears I turned off Mr. Stephenson's.  My apologies.


MR. STEPHENSON:  We will save that for another case.


The point really is this.  In my submission, it is clear, obviously, that there are parties to this particular proceeding that have sincerely held and strongly held views that this case, that the application should not succeed, and they are going to attempt to oppose it on whatever basis they think will assist them in achieving that goal.


My point at the end of the day is this:  Given the electricity infrastructure challenges that this province faces, there is a grave danger that projects will not proceed, not because they are not meritorious, but rather because they will get bogged down in interminable procedural disputes.


All I have to say to you is that in some real way the electricity world is watching this case, and there is a strong interest that this case be heard and determined on its merits.  It is obviously entirely appropriate for you to consider the narrow issue, which I say we really have to decide, which is:  Is the information sought relevant and appropriate to be disclosed in the circumstances?  


Of course that's appropriate to be sought.  But I just urge you not to get caught up in any suggestion or impression that there has been delay, obfuscation or whatever, because there's clearly parties here that -- for whom there will never be enough information and there will never be enough time.


I simply say let's give this project the opportunity to be heard and determined on the merits.


Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Ross, your reply.

Further submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  Briefly, in reverse order to the submissions made, starting with the end.  My friend from the Power Workers' Union's submissions were purely rhetoric and contained platitudes in favour of HONI and, as such, need no response.


My friend from OPG suggests the motion is preposterous and premature.  I would imagine the same submissions would be made if we were to bring it when we found out that Hydro One didn't have the information.  He would say it is preposterous and it is barred by res judicata.  I think it is a position of sucking and blowing, and that we're trying to deal expediently and get everything done while we're here on the motions day.  


Mr. Rattray suggests that we are attempting to fundamentally change the interrogatory process.  Well, not at all, in fact.  We received a denial to our request.  We filed a motion requiring productions of those documents, and in that motion we offered alternatives to the Board, including OPG and Bruce and all of the others, alternatives to the Board so that if Hydro One was unable or unwilling to provide that information, there was an avenue through which it could be provided, again, in the hopes of expediting.


Everyone who made submissions, including the applicant, has missed the boat on the request for the information.  We want the historical generation information to see how much juice was going down the line so that we understand the baseline for the transmission system as it exists, so that we understand the need for the new transmission system.


I didn't think it was that difficult and complex a concept to grasp.  We have got everything we need in a chart on page 27 of the Pollution Probe materials, except for it just stops a little early.  We're asking for this chart -- sorry.


It stops a little -- it doesn't start early enough.  Excuse me.  Page 27 is the beginning of a chart that commences in 2003 with generation information.  We just want that to go back to 1984.


My friend, Mr. Vegh, from the Bruce, made submissions that were disingenuous.  The suggestion was that, Oh, well, we just took over in 2001, so I mean -- and luckily Mr. Quesnelle was able to pick up on that, and it became very evident that the records probably are there, that they didn't leave in the night with the previous owners, that they are the caretakers of those records.  And we're simply asking this chart that has already been mostly provided is completed.  


Relevance?  Because our experts, whom we have a letter from in our affidavit, which, by the way, is not refuted by any evidence here today, because there has been no evidence filed, other than the prefiled evidence.  We've got a motion record from Hydro One; no affidavit.


All of my friends who are making submissions in support of Hydro One's position; no evidence.


Legal submissions, fair enough.  We're dealing with the issue of relevance from a legal position.  Fine.  There is one piece of evidence from our expert that says, We need this information in order to establish the baseline and in order to understand whether the project is needed and justified.  


That is the evidence before the Board, nothing else.  It has not been refuted.  It has only been batted back and forth from a legal perspective.  Even then, I would say that there has been a concession made that anything that is materially on point and is required for a better understanding of the project is relevant.


With regards to the requests for further information in my Interrogatory No. 3, Mr. Nettleton says that in order to facilitate this request, Hydro One would have to rearrange all of its affairs.  If this is in fact the case, I have great fear for the recipients of hydro in Ontario, because if Hydro One has to stop everything and rearrange all of its affairs because I requested a list of legislation, then obviously they are strapped for resources.


On the one hand, there is -- there is the list that they say is already made available through all of these different sources, that if I just go to these 18 different documents I can find what I am looking for, but, on the other hand, for them to make this a comprehensive piece of paper for me and provide it to me would be so onerous as to cause Hydro One to have to rearrange its entire schedule.  I find the argument specious and without merit.


Mr. Nettleton raised the rule with regards to interrogatories, and he read specifically from 29 in regards to what has to be in the interrogatories and took that to be the intention of an interrogatory.


I think that we need to look at Rule 28, and Rule 28 suggests that in a proceeding, a board may establish an interrogatory procedure to clarify the evidence, simplify the issues, permit a full and satisfactory understanding of the matters to be considered, expedite the proceeding.  


This was not included in Mr. Nettleton's interpretation of the purpose of interrogatories, and I think that it's very important that it is included, because all we're asking for is information to provide to our experts so that they can see what the field looked like at one point in time, what the field was capable of doing during that period of time, and where we are today.


The load generation forecast going forward is really up to me.  I don't have much to say about it.  What I do have to say about it is that the load forecast equals the transmission requirements, and I do have something to say about the transmission requirements.


I don't -- I want to check Hydro One's math, and I think I should be entitled to check Hydro One's math.  The OPA says, This is how much juice is going to come out of the Bruce and we don't want to give you too much detail about that. 


I will leave that to Pollution Probe and other people to fight about.  What I want to know is what juice was capable of being run down that line, what -- because that's what we're basing the need for the current project on, that there isn't enough left, that we need more space.


I want to see what it looked like under active conditions in 1984 when we actually had the eight units up.  My friend admits, I mean, we have got data only since prior to refurbishment when we have not had all the reactors online.  I don't think it is an unreasonable request to make.


The final point that I have to make is simply an optics submission to the Board, and that is my friend acknowledges that, you know, with regards to issue 3 where I say, Can you just tell me, like, what would cause the transformer to touch the wire, they won't give that to me.  I can get it in cross-examination.  


Why will they not just answer the question?  Why are we here having an argument about it?  Why are things that are not determined to be confidential, that simply would fill up an extra 12 paragraphs of a chart that has almost been completed, are we fighting about it?  It raises my suspicion, regardless of relevance.  


The positionality of the proponent and their cronies raises the landowners' suspicions, and their suspicions were already raised from 30 years ago in similar dealings, and that's one of the reasons why we are in the situation we're in right now.  We want to check the math, because we haven't been able to rely on things so far, and it hasn't been transparent and open and forthcoming, and that is all we're looking for.


Subject to any questions, those are my submissions and/or rants.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, do you have anything to add?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Nettleton stated that the historic evidence sought is not about -- it's about generation forecast provided by the OPA.  He stated that the Board must determine the need for the 500 kV line in the context of generation forecasts provided by the OPA.


We say that -- it is our position that HONI, the OPA and the IESO are making a basic mistake in their reasoning.  This application is really not about generation forecasts.  It is it about the ability or lack of ability of the present lines to transmit that generation forecast.  


We're not -- whatever the forecast is, we're not entering into that foray.  We just want to know, whatever you need, can you transmit it?


If there is a lack of -- so if there is a lack of ability to now transmit that OPA generation forecast, it is necessary to know what is the present baseline capacity?


We challenge the OPA's assumption that the present capacity is 5,060 megawatts.  They made that statement and Hydro has supported that statement in its material.


We suggest, as do other intervenors, that as 6,560 megawatts was generated in the years 1987 to 1995, and what is generated was transmitted, that the transmission capacity is, at the very least, 30 percent higher than the OPA says it is now.


This raises the question as to what the actual transmission capacity then was, and now is.


The generation forecast is not being challenged.  What is being challenged is OPA's statement that the transmission capacity is 5060 megawatts.  If OPA is wrong, and I would say that IESO has stated in its 2005 outlook that there was no new transmission capacity needed -- that was what was in that document.  I don't --


MR. ROSS:  My fault.


MR. FALLIS:  I turned yours off. 


MS. NOWINA:  You share the microphone.


MR. FALLIS:  Oh, we share it.  There you go.


MS. NOWINA:  As Mr. Penny and Mr. Stephenson did.  


MR. FALLIS:  Very good.  Anyway, if the OPA is wrong about what the capacity is, and then the IESO document supports the fact no new transmission capacity is needed, it is incumbent on this Board to determine what the present capacity of the existing line is, to know how much additional transmission capacity is needed for the generation forecast.


Therefore, it is relevant for this Board to now seek the historic information to know what historic transmission capacity was, to know if it has in any way been reduced or enhanced at the present.


When the Board determines the present transmission capacity, it would be able to determine the lack or the additional capacity that is needed, and will be able to determine if in fact the 500 kV line is necessary.


If the lines are sufficient for all nuclear generation at the Bruce, but let us say, insufficient for wind power generation, is there a need for an alternative manner of transmission of wind-generated power, without a 500 kV line at a cost of $635 million?


It is an absolutely necessary for the Board to determine the present capacity of the existing five lines.  Without this determination, the Board cannot determine what additional transmission capacity, expressed in megawatts, is needed for the forecast generation.


Having said that, I think that the relevance is completely established, because if we do not accept the statement of OPA, OPA -- and I don't know if this is anything to do with it -- but OPA was created, this OPA anyway, was created under the Ontario -- the Energy Restructuring Act in 2004.  It is under four years old.  And it is a Crown corporation.  It is not independent, as Mr. Nettleton suggested.  It is owned by the Crown, as is HONI, as is Hydro One Inc., as is Ontario Power Generation.  They're all part of the Crown.


So I think that we must be certain as to what the existing transmission capacity is, and we must be satisfied what it is to know what you have to build on top of it to transmit whatever generation forecast is needed.


So it is absolutely relevant, and for the others to say that it is not, I don't think is proper.  I think it is a fundamental, basic part of this application, and that historic information is needed.


I might add that in looking at the chart that was in the material of Pollution Probe, that the chart that is set out in the page there what that you had, Mr. Ross, that that information could be as simple as that and it would satisfy our information.


I mean it does say, if you look at the chart, and I would ask you to turn to page 27, 28 and 29 of Pollution Probe's material.  But if you had look at it, basically, we will look at it from the 11th of 2003 to through to the present.  Each of the, for Bruce A and Bruce B, it has capacity on each side.  For example, the capacity on the Bruce A was 1540 megawatts.  The capacity at Bruce B was 3180 megawatts.  I accept that Bruce A went up to 1575 in May of 2007.  But those are the capacities we're looking at, and we're all just trying to take that information back to the days of when Bruce A and Bruce B were set up.


Those charts being provided would satisfy our clients with respect to the information that we need, I believe, to give to our expert.


I think with that simple information, rather than having had long motions, we would be very content to take that and provide that to our experts to see if we can expeditiously work on the forward material, and --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, can I stop and ask you -- and Mr. Ross indicated the same thing -- can you tell me which of the interrogatories that you are requesting more extensive replies to could be replaced by a reply to Pollution Probe's two interrogatories?  Can we do a replacement there?  Just help us understand what is essential information for you.  You both made that statement.


MR. FALLIS:  Good question.


MR. ROSS:  With regards to the chart that's contained at page 27 of Pollution Probe's materials, our needs -- if that chart was completed back to 1984 -- would be satisfied for interrogatory 1.1(i).  We would still require the transmission records to go along with that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  That's helpful.


MR. FALLIS:  I would say that, from the perspective of my clients, I would be content with that information, if I got that information only.


It would be helpful, because whatever was generated, one presumes would be transmitted.  So it's pretty, you know -- there may be some on-site consumption information, when they had the heavy water plants there, but at least you know what is generated.  It would give you a relatively good idea.  It may not be accurate as to what went down the line, but it would certainly be helpful to know that it had the ability to go down the line, because they wouldn't have generated it if they couldn't have transmitted it.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  That's helpful.


MR. FALLIS:  If we had that, I think that would be -- I don't know why there is difficulty in providing that information.  Mr. Quesnelle raised the obvious question, where are the archive records?  I mean somebody must have them.  They didn't fall off the back of the rutabaga wagon.  They have to exist. 


And the Canadian National Nuclear Safety Commission requires this information to be kept for 75 years following decommissioning.  It is there.  Somebody has got it.  It has to be produced.  That's our difficulty.  If we had it, we wouldn't be here.  It's that simple.  That chart extended backwards --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, I am going to pay you a compliment and ask you a favour.  Your remarks in this final submission, especially when you were reading your early remarks, were brief, clear and very helpful.  If you could continue that tone through the rest of the hearing, your presentations would be very helpful to us.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  With that I think we have completed today's hearing.  We will get you a decision as soon as we possibly can.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:08 p.m.
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